SIT Graduate Institute/SIT Study Abroad

SIT Digital Collections

Capstone Collection

SIT Graduate Institute

August 2022

The Eastern Atomic Rise: Defining Nuclear Hegemony in a Multilateral World

Eric Rodriguez

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcollections.sit.edu/capstones

Part of the International and Area Studies Commons, International Relations Commons, and the Other Political Science Commons

Recommended Citation

Rodriguez, Eric, "The Eastern Atomic Rise: Defining Nuclear Hegemony in a Multi-lateral World" (2022). *Capstone Collection*. 3258.

https://digitalcollections.sit.edu/capstones/3258

This Thesis (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by the SIT Graduate Institute at SIT Digital Collections. It has been accepted for inclusion in Capstone Collection by an authorized administrator of SIT Digital Collections. For more information, please contact digitalcollections@sit.edu.

The Eastern Atomic Rise: Defining Nuclear Hegemony in a Multi-lateral World

Capstone Paper for Global Master of Diplomacy and International Relations

Eric Rodriguez

DIPL 6604

SIT Graduate Institute, Brattleboro Vermont

Advisor: Dr. Bruce Dayton

11 August 2022

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	II
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
OVERVIEW	1
POSITIONALITY	3
LITERATURE REVIEW	4
RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	8
DISCUSSION	10
HEGEMONY CONCEIVED	10
INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS THEORY: REALISM, LIBERALISM, AND CONSTRUCTIVISM	12
Perspectives on Nuclear Energy	
THE INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY: A NUCLEAR HEGEMON?	17
RUSSIA: THE WORLD'S ONE-STOP NUCLEAR SHOP	19
CHINA: FINANCING THE GLOBAL NUCLEAR BELT	23
THE UNITED STATES: THE ORIGINAL NUCLEAR HEGEMON	27
Nuclear Hegemony Defined	30
DIMENSIONS OF NUCLEAR HEGEMONY	32
LIMITATIONS, APPLICATIONS, AND FUTURE AREAS FOR STUDY	34
LIMITATIONS	34
Applications	35
AREAS FOR FUTURE STUDY	39
CONCLUSION	42
REFERENCES	45

ABSTRACT

Most existing literature in the field of international relations on the hegemonic dimension of nuclear technology is written from a realist, western perspective within the context of the Cold War. It focuses on its military, defense, and security dimensions, non-proliferation and safety, and some analyses of hegemony from a cultural media perspective. This theory-building paper offers contrasting understanding of nuclear hegemony, which recognizes three recent developments: 1) diminished Western Hegemony in nuclear technology; 2) growing Chinese nuclear capacity in energy geopolitics; and 3) growing concerns about global energy security. This paper begins with an overview of these developments and a review of the current state of literature on the concept of nuclear hegemony. The paper then reviews the research methodology employed by the author to interrogate conventional understandings of nuclear hegemony. A discussion section then identifies the extent to which current thinking on nuclear hegemony reflects current geopolitical realities. This section includes a proposed new definition of nuclear hegemony. The paper concludes by examining the implications of this study and recommendations for application and further study.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This paper represents the culmination of eleven months work and experience in three continents. I must first thank Jeff Cesar, Emily Dionne, Prentiss Edmond, Lawrence Englert, Liam Flanagan, Kelsey Garrett, Millie Guess, Michelle Rahimi, and Sahar Sandoval for being part of my journey. I learned a lot from all of you, and I would not have been able to reach this point in my academic career without you support.

To the SIT faculty and staff in Switzerland including Dr. Goran Jovanovic, Joe Apostolidis, and Aigul Jarmatova, and Dr. Elias Phaahla, Dr. Zwelethu Jolobe, Alecia Ndlovu, and Stewart Chirova in South Africa, your knowledge and willingness to help are part of the reason I was able to complete this program, and I remain indebted to you. I also must include or Program Chair and my advisor, Dr. Bruce Dayton for his support and guidance throughout the program.

I am grateful to Dr. Rob Melnick at Arizona State University for always being available and putting in a good word for me wherever I go. I must also acknowledge Mark Hannafin under whom I served in Peace Corps. I would not have been in this study program had he not given me the opportunity to serve in North Macedonia. To Clinton Voyce and Aaron Livie, my last supervisors before I left the private sector, who were always selfless in encouraging me to pursue what was best for me, I will always be thankful.

To my friends Jen, Jeff, Tara, Amber, Joanna, Jordan, the two Sara's, and "The Tribe" in Clarkdale, Arizona, for always supporting me in whichever endeavor I chose to pursue.

And finally, to my parents, Ruben and Linda Rodriguez, words cannot convey my gratitude.

Their wisdom, guidance, and support have made me the man that I am, and I would not be where I am without their unwavering love and support.

OVERVIEW

Recent global developments such as the crisis in Ukraine have been sobering reminders of the threat of global energy insecurity. As Budinger & Bauman (2022) recently stated, "the Russian invasion of Ukraine has underscored the importance of energy independence and reliability." Beyond the immediate impact of rising energy costs, the lack of capacity for states to produce their own energy has impacted many other sectors of society, from health to food security. (Benton et al., 2022; Ori, 2022; Phoumin, 2022)

While some scholars and experts project that this crisis will accelerate the global transition to renewable energy (Fetzek, 2022; Psaropoulos, 2022; Tharoor, 2022), there is concern that despite the growth of the renewable energy sector, growing global demand will not be met. (Hosseini, 2022; Lopez, 2015; World Nuclear Association, 2021) The International Energy Agency (2021) projects that best-case scenario, renewable energy will only be able to meet half of the global energy demand in the upcoming years. Additionally, with climate-exacerbated drought and flooding threatening hydroelectric output worldwide, (Bernstein et al., 2021; Dong et al., 2018; Hiar, 2021) the argument for including nuclear energy in diversification strategies by the International Atomic Energy Agency and other energy agencies is receiving more attention. (El Baradei, 2007) Clifford (2022) likewise argues that the urgency of reducing carbon emissions, which is being compounded by Russia's reduction of natural gas flows Europe, has increased the appeal of nuclear energy. Even Japan, in the wake of the 2011 Fukushima accident, is pursuing nuclear energy, with Minister for Economy, Trade, and Industry Koichi Hagiuda stating in 2021, "Nuclear power is indispensable when we think about how we can ensure a stable and affordable electricity supply while addressing climate change." (Nikkei Asia, 2021) Sadiq et al. (2022) likewise note that "Nuclear energy has the potential to play an influential role in energy transition efforts that are now [sic] anticipated by many countries."

Many states in the non-western aligned Global South are in various stages of implementing nuclear power in their energy programs. Sadiq et al. note that a significant increase in nuclear power will be required to sustainably realize human development while mitigating the effects of climate change. Some developed nations are likewise reconsidering their plans to abandon nuclear energy. (Budinger & Bauman, 2022; Caballero-Anthony & Trajano, 2015; Goldemberg, 2009; Pombo-Van Zyl, 2021) Citing recent initiatives to construct nuclear reactors in South Carolina and Georgia, Feldman (2017) argues that a "rebirth of commercial nuclear power" is potentially underway in the United States. He notes several reasons for the U.S.'s renewed interest in nuclear energy, including the volatility of energy commodities, environmental protection, and the projected increase in electrical demand, which is expected to grow by 28% by 2040, according to the U.S. Department of Energy. (2017)

On a global scale, nuclear energy is "already playing a role in energy geopolitics", (U.S. Senate, 2019) characterized by the "decline of U.S. nuclear export competitiveness" (Nakano, 2020) over the last two decades while Russia and China have been aggressively pursuing nuclear exports. Sallee (2021) notes that with minimal uranium production, an aging nuclear reactor fleet, and diminishing technological and professional capacity, the U.S. "has relinquished its competitive global position as the world leader in nuclear energy to Russian and Chinese state-owned enterprises." According to Mazarr et al. (2018) of the RAND Corporation, Russia's "energy diplomacy" of supplying technology and nuclear fuel, and China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI), which includes a strong emphasis on nuclear energy exports, are evidence not only of Russia and China's emergence as key players in the energy landscape but also a renewed global focus on nuclear energy. Sallee argues that the U.S.'s withdrawal from the global nuclear energy market has created a power vacuum in which rivals such as Russia and China are in a capacity to fill, with alarming implications for

foreign policy. Poneman et al. are more blunt, declaring that the U.S. "has lost its leadership – and is on the precipice of losing it permanently."

The potential of nuclear energy to help combat climate change and mitigate the challenge of what is likely to be a global energy crisis (Gilbert et al., 2021; Helman, 2022; Horowitz, 2021; Zakaria, 2021), and China and Russia's move to fill the power vacuum left by the western retreat from this sector represent a critical dimension of the dramatically shifting geopolitical landscape.

Therefore, within the theoretical framework of a renewed competition for geopolitical dominance between nuclear states driven by a global energy crisis, this paper aims to contribute to the existing body of knowledge on nuclear energy by answering the question: "What is Nuclear Hegemony?" and developing a working definition that can be used in future research. It is hoped that this definition will assist in gauging how emerging dominant states will leverage their nuclear prowess over their allies and competitors, how that power will be accepted and challenged by other states, and how the interaction of these actors will shape international relations.

POSITIONALITY

The underlying foundation and motivation for this paper are that while the world must transition away from fossil fuels, the current capacity of renewable energy to meet global energy needs, especially as the current instability in Ukraine constrains natural gas flows to Europe, is insufficient. Therefore, incorporating nuclear energy is crucial for combating climate change and achieving greater security.

My positionality is inspired by Director General Rafael Mariano Grossi of the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), whose discussion on nuclear energy I attended at the Annual Graduate Institute Alumni Reunion in Geneva in 2021. At that discussion, Director General Rossi emphasized that while nuclear energy will not solve the current

climate crisis, it is an integral part of a practical energy diversification strategy to reduce carbon emissions.

The European energy crisis, driven by diminished Russian natural gas supplies amidst the Ukraine conflict, and observing, close-up, the need for reliable, affordable, and adaptable low-carbon energy solutions while studying in Africa further solidified my conviction that nuclear power will become an increasingly important source of global energy. My intent here is not to necessarily advocate for or against nuclear energy. However, the ways in which the trajectory of hegemonic influence and power in global nuclear energy governance are being influenced by Russia and China's advances in nuclear technology absent western capacity and leadership are of great interest to me.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Despite the controversial nature of nuclear technology and the global concern over proliferation and safety, as well as its potential for peaceful use, there are strikingly few instances of the terminology "Nuclear Hegemony" in existing literature. Most research on nuclear power and hegemony is written from a western, realist, Cold War perspective (Deudney, 2014) that focuses on its military and security applications. Hayes (1988), for example, one of the few scholars who actually uses the term, defines "Nuclear Hegemony" as "an international political-military system in which nuclear weapons and strategy play a central role in the military power, institutions, and ideologies which underlie that order." His analysis focuses primarily on the defense and military dimensions of nuclear technology, which reflect the traditional realist foundation of Schurmann's (1974) Political-Military Hegemony Theory. However, he also acknowledges the complementarity of Cox's (1981, 1987) liberal-oriented Political-Economy Hegemony theory and thus conceives Nuclear Hegemony as a fusion of the two theories. Tomotsugu (2016) substantiates that latter theory by emphasizing American use of nuclear cooperation as a diplomatic tool to augment its

allies' capacity to deter its Communist adversaries and contain the spread of nuclear weapons technology to other undesirable actors.

Although Hayes (2018) goes on to further clarify the fusion of realist and liberal approaches by characterizing Nuclear Hegemony as "American nuclear leadership" that is based on both its superior nuclear arsenal and a "shared vision of liberal international order", he reiterates the underlying aim of "strategic nuclear deterrence aimed at containing illiberal states, most importantly the former Soviet Union." Sechser & Furhmann (2013) likewise employ a traditional realist approach to nuclear technology and power, stating that "nuclear weapons allow states to protect their territorial sovereignty and autonomy through deterrence rather than more traditional security strategies, including defense, power projection, and compellence." More recently, Bin (2018) revisits the hegemonic use of nuclear weapons during the Cold War to rebuff the Trump administration's call for the need to counter the perceived threat of China's "Nuclear and non-nuclear capabilities."

Although he does not specifically use the term "Nuclear Hegemony", Medhurst (1997) offers a slightly more balanced analysis of American activities and aspirations during the "Atoms for Energy" campaign, noting that it had military/security, economic, diplomatic, and psychological dimensions. Ultimately, however, he concludes that with security and defense being the primary goal of U.S. military policy, as well as "the nuclearization of NATO forces", the "peaceful" atom and American nuclear energy diplomacy were nothing more than public relations campaigns to divert public attention away from its military uses." Citing the gradual scaling down of nuclear power projects during high oil prices during the 1970s, Gonzalez (2013) more bluntly argues that the U.S. nuclear energy efforts were nothing more than an attempt to "solidify its hegemonic position." Logically, he theorizes, the energy shock should have been an impetus to intensify the development of nuclear energy

production. But the fact that nuclear projects were, in fact, reduced indicates that energy security was not a priority in the U.S.'s nuclear ambitions.

The second prevailing line of thinking concerning Nuclear Hegemony concerns disarmament and non-proliferation. In analyzing India's No First Use (NFU) policy on nuclear weapons, Kamath (2013) frames "Nuclear Hegemony" as an American global institution that must be abandoned under the encouragement of NATO within the greater context of the disarmament of the five major nuclear weapons states. Kamra (2009) compliments this perspective, defining Nuclear Hegemony as an effort by "Nuclear Haves", which Gonzalez (2018) identifies as the Western, U.S.-led "political elite" to use Non-proliferation to prevent the acquisition and manufacturing of nuclear weapons by undesirable "Nuclear Have Nots". He points to the hypocrisy of nuclear states, which, while retaining and refusing to destroy their own arsenals of nuclear weapons, promoted non-proliferation and the Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty (CTBT), which limited access of many countries to nuclear technology.

Without specifically invoking the term "Nuclear Hegemony", Ritchie (2019) discusses a global nuclear order that revolves "around the nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT), nuclear deterrence, the possession and control of nuclear weapons and materials, and nuclear abolition", whose aim is to "delegitimize and stigmatize nuclear weapons and nuclear deterrence through a new and unequivocal legal instrument under the auspices of the United Nations". Finally, Miller (2014) analyzes how dependence on American resources, coupled with the threat of nuclear sanctions, projected American hegemony in non-proliferation efforts and containment in the 1970s in Taiwan and Pakistan.

The third line of thinking frames Nuclear Hegemony through cultural and media outlets, which are primarily oppositional narratives to nuclear war and devastation. Brink (2018) analyses public criticism of "Nuclear Hegemony" in Japan in the wake of the

Fukushima disaster through the publication of "senryu" (poetry) in Japanese media. The "Nuclear power village", which he describes as Japan's "energy industry equivalent of a military-industrial complex," failed to foresee and later concealed the severity of effects that the Tohoku earthquake had on the community.

Demo et al. (2014) focus on the role of the media in projecting the image of the American nuclear elite, through which hegemony was "claimed" by America's scientific and technological prowess, and its nuclear endeavors legitimized and justified. They, therefore, define Nuclear Hegemony as "the ongoing processes by which political, social, and cultural forces combine to establish and enforce the dominant power of the nuclear-industrial complex, which since the Manhattan Project in the 1940s has had power to command resources, protect secrets, control publicity, and establish professional and political classes and hierarchies of personal and institutional authority." They briefly mention the U.S.'s pursuit of a non-military international atomic program during the Truman administration but maintain that it was essentially a public relations spin to manage the U.S.'s warmongering image and assuage/divert concerns away from weaponization and destruction in order to make it publicly acceptable.

Scholars such as Schwartz (2021) and Alexis-Martin (2019) frame the hegemonic nature of nuclear technology within the devastation from nuclear testing on communities in the Pacific Islands and the neo-colonial exploitation of uranium miners in Africa. Hogg (2016) notes the emergence of "nuclear criticism" in popular culture in the 1980s in the United Kingdom, which focused on the prospects of prolonged nuclear engagement as well as the destructive capacity of nuclear technology that western Nuclear Hegemony fostered.

Despite these identifiable narratives, Deudney nonetheless notes that "extensive literatures on hegemony and nuclear weapons…have surprisingly little overlap". Beyond these three narratives, many contemporary scholars (Harnisch, 2014; Horsburgh, 2015;

Ritchie, 2019; Walker, 2012) acknowledge that power and hegemony have not received sufficient consideration within the energy dimension of global nuclear governance.

This review of the existing literature has established that the academic framework to evaluate and study the utility of nuclear energy as a diplomatic and hegemonic tool does not exist. The geopolitical landscape continues to shift, most notably with the emergence of the BRICS (Brazil, Russia, India, China, South Africa) organization, which is challenging western hegemony. The hegemonic dynamic of nuclear power is also evolving as Russia (Geller, 2022) and China emerge as global leaders in nuclear energy development and exports. (Wang & Lee, 2022) To maintain global stability and security, compatible academic and policy tools must also be developed

Existing narratives born out of Cold War realism continue to frame the discourse in a profoundly different world order. Bin, for example, notes the alarmist view of nuclear weapons confrontation that frames much of the current discourse on U.S.-China nuclear relations. Ritchie notes a global nuclear "ordering anxiety" arising from the intersectionality of the mixed success of arms control initiatives and perceived renewed nuclear threats driven by the eroding "liberal international order".

As long as realist Cold War and alarmist narratives continue to define the discourse on nuclear technology, leaders and academics, particularly in the west, will continue to look in the wrong direction by focusing on weapons when they should also be paying attention to Russia and China's gains in nuclear energy. This has profound implications for foreign policy and the shaping of the emerging world order.

RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

The over-arching phenomenon to be studied is the nuclear dimension of energy geopolitics. The hegemonic nature of nuclear power has changed over time with the simultaneous diminishing of Western dominance and the growing influence of the Global

South. Therefore, Grounded Theory, which, according to Merriam & Tisdell (2015), addresses "questions about process; that is, how something changes over time", is the appropriate analytical framework for the study.

As Russia and China exercise hegemony through cooperation within the BRICS organization and in greater South-South relations, Cox's Political-Economic Hegemony Theory is the most appropriate theoretical foundation upon which to base research for this paper. Since Russia and China's emergence as nuclear energy hegemons within a governance context are relatively unstudied and overlooked, Critical Theory, which Bronner (2011) argues, "must respond to the new problems and the new possibilities for liberation that arise from changing historical circumstance", is the appropriate framework under which to conduct research. At the same time, Grounded Theory, which Saldaña (2011) describes as "an analytic process of constantly comparing small data units" (in this case, case studies of Russian, Chinese, and American nuclear energy strategies), is the logical foundation for comparative analysis and is a practical approach to employ in building a definition of Nuclear Hegemony.

The primary methodology employed in this study consists of collecting and analyzing case studies under the Canonical Genre of qualitative research. (Marshall et al., 2021) Most contemporary literature about the philosophical and theoretical concepts of hegemony is oriented around Gramsci's writings on power dynamics characterized by the transactions of socio-political groups as models to counter fascism, which modern scholars such as Hayes and Cox adapted and framed within geopolitical discourse. Considering that Gramsci was interested in alternate systems of governance (which is particularly relevant with the emergence of BRICS and other "counter-hegemonic" actors), his work and those of his modern counterparts are a logical foundation upon which to develop an appropriate concept of hegemony for the first phase of research for this paper.

The second phase consisted of case studies of Russian, Chinese, and American foreign policy and nuclear programs, encompassing analyses of government publications (where available) from all three states, as well as research and commentaries by western, Asian, and Eurasian academic institutions, think tanks, and media, who identified both the mechanisms by which these actors penetrated foreign nuclear markets, how their presence and capacity can and do affect how their client states behave, and to project how they may exercise their political, economic, and scientific advantages on the geopolitical stage.

During the third and final phase, the definition of Nuclear Hegemony is developed using Critical Genre approaches (Marshall et al.,) such as Critical Ethnography and Critical Discourse, based on Hayes' Political-Economic Hegemony Theory. The hegemonic tools identified in the case studies were incorporated into traditional perceptions of hegemony and framed within international relations theories of Realism, Liberalism, and Constructivism.

DISCUSSION

Hegemony Conceived

We will proceed with a working conceptual idea of hegemony based on Hegemonic Stability Theory (Gilpin, Keohane), which attempts to explain how more endowed states leverage their political and economic advantage to influence the behavior of less endowed states. In simple terms, according to Joseph (2003), hegemony concerns the relationship between a dominant group's leadership and a subordinate group's consent.

Cox's analysis of hegemony traces its modern origins to the work of Antonino Gramsci, former leader of the Italian Communist Party. While imprisoned in Italy, Gramsci wrote a series of papers that focused on defeating fascism and envisioned alternative models of the social fiber of the state based on Marxist concepts of an emergent working class that could exercise power in the state.

Contemporary scholars have struggled to define hegemony concretely. Ougaard (1988), for example, attempts to define hegemony first within the context of resource distribution in which hegemony represents "a preponderance of material power resources", and second within the context of a state pursuing its own interests within an environment of conflict. Clingan (2013) attempts to define hegemony through economic indicators, suggesting, for example, that a state has achieved hegemony when its economy is larger than the next three combined. However, he notes that a definitive determination is a challenge because conventional measures such as GDP, GDP per capita, and output per worked hour, to name a few, yield different results. He also cites geography and distance as a limit on hegemony, noting that the ability to exert power diminishes proportionately with distance from power centers and resources.

Other scholars, such as Cox, focus on conditions conducive to achieving hegemonic capacity. He suggests that a prerequisite feature of a hegemon is the foundation and protection of a world order that originated with a social or economic revolution in the hegemonic state that then spilled over to other states. Consistent with Wallerstein's World-systems theory, in which socially, politically, and economically advanced "core" states exert influence on less developed "semi-peripheral" and "peripheral" states, (Agnew, 2020) we can witness this phenomenon during the mid-nineteenth century British hegemonic expansion, the United States' global position post World War II, and more recently during we are seeing the economic and political influence of the BRICS organization spreading to other states in the Global South. (Teslova, 2022)

Beyond these sources, there are few identifiable definitive factors that can be used to evaluate a state's hegemonic status. Scholars of nuclear governance should not be discouraged by this but should instead see this as an opportunity to break new ground in this re-emerging field of study. Central to defining Nuclear Hegemony is the acknowledgment of

the hegemon's capacity to make the rules by which other players abide through "the elaboration of political projects, the articulation of interests, the construction of social alliances, the development of historical blocs, the deployment of state strategies and the initiating of passive revolutions." (Joseph)

International Relations Theory: Realism, Liberalism, and Constructivism

The three key international relations theories of Realism, Liberalism, and Constructivism seek to explain why and how sovereign states, who control all social, economic, and political activity within their borders, pursue their own interests and self-preservation absent accountability to a prevailing institution (Mearsheimer, 1994) in a "competitive, often ruthless, Hobbesian domain" known as anarchy. (Gilpin, 2012; Glaser, 2019) Thomson (1995) defines sovereignty as the" recognition by internal and external actors that the state has the exclusive authority to intervene coercively in activities within its territory".

Norwich University (n.d.) characterizes Realism as an environment in which a state acts to maximize its social, economic, and political power and influence in the interest of self-preservation. According to Donnelly (2014), "Realism emphasizes the constraints on politics imposed by human nature and the absence of international government. Together, they make international relations largely a realm of power and interests."

Because states will almost always act in their own self-interest, (Gilpin, 2007) the state's behavior is manifest through power. (Morgenthau & Thompson, 2018) Any action, including military action, is therefore justified in the interest of self-preservation(Schwarzenberger, 1964) as articulated by Schurmann's Political-Military Hegemony theory, which is based on "direct political and military rule by one state over many aspects of the internal and important aspects of the external policies of other states" and is inherently coercive.

As one state acquires power, it diminishes other states' relative power and influence. From a realist geopolitical perspective, hegemony can therefore be conceived as a global power system in which a state can exercise its economic and military dominance to "regularly get its way." (Clingan) The subsequent system of winners and losers creates a perpetual state of competition for power and influence (Waltz, 2010), which inevitably leads to conflict.

Liberalism is defined by "an emphasis on international cooperation as a means of furthering each nation's respective interests." (Norwich University) The common market function of the European Union is an excellent articulation of liberal thought in which a capitalist, liberalized, integrated open market functions as the optimal mechanism to produce goods and services and ensure happiness and prosperity (Fukuyama, 1989) for its member states. It also creates a system of interdependence, in which states' collective wellbeing depends on their ability to cooperate. (Paul, 2012) Interdependency, in theory, minimizes the likelihood of armed conflict, but it also requires states to relinquish their sovereignty, in certain policy areas, to a supranational authority. Liberal theory, therefore, aligns with Cox, Fenton's (2018), and Mollakkattu's (2009) concept of hegemonic power as based on the compatibility of interests between the hegemon and consenting states who willingly accept and (sometimes) actively participate in the supranational authority of the hegemon.

Constructivism "rests on the notion that rather than the outright pursuit of material interests, it is a nation's belief systems—historical, cultural and social —that explain its foreign policy efforts and behavior". (Norwich University) States are not the most important actors in international relations because international institutions and other non-state actors are valuable in influencing behavior through lobbying and acts of persuasion. (Norwich University) It could be argued that the emergence of the BRICS organization to challenge western hegemony and reshape western-dominated global institutions represents a nascent constructivist hegemonic order.

While a firm understanding of these IR theories is crucial to building a definition of Nuclear Hegemony, it is critically important to recognize that hegemony within a nuclear context is evolving and therefore contains elements of some or all three theories, which are often contradictory. Saull (2017), for example, balances liberal and realist approaches, describing hegemony as "international leadership by one political subject, be it the state or a "historical bloc" of particular social groupings(…) of other, weaker, less powerful parties."

Alternately, while Hayes notes that nuclear geopolitics are "nuclear bloc" politics versus "balance-of-power" politics, suggesting that he views nuclear politics through a liberal lens versus a strict realist approach, Cox notes the applicability of Gramsci's concept of hegemony to global governance because of the interplay of power groups and "alternate states" which is particularly relevant with the emergence of BRICS and other constructivist organizations.

Before we add the layer of nuclear technology to our analysis, two final points need to be made about hegemony and international relations: 1. While Realism and liberalism appear to be the dominant IR theories that arise when analyzing hegemony, it is important to remember that while these conventional concepts have shaped academic thought on the subject, we are venturing into a new political arena with newly emergent players and new concepts of world orders that are challenging these concepts. Therefore, we must be vigilantly mindful of the role that Constructivism and constructivist institutions can play in shaping contemporary concepts of hegemony; 2. That notwithstanding, it is equally important to be mindful that despite the cooperative and consensual verbiage of nuclear agreements, Cox warns us that when analyzing hegemony, coercion is always implied.

Perspectives on Nuclear Energy

Nuclear technology remains controversial in many parts of the world, particularly in the west. Many western countries have voiced strong opposition to nuclear energy, ranging from safety and security concerns to costs. Critics of nuclear energy, for example, warn of the

potentially disastrous effects of reactor failure. The Union of Concerned Scientists (2013) list seven accidents associated with nuclear energy, including the melting of the Windscale 1 core in Cumbria, UK, in 1957 and the accidents at Three Mile Island in the United States, Chornobyl, Ukraine (former Soviet Union) in 1986, and most recently the Fukushima Daiichi reactor in Japan in 2011. The human casualties and environmental, structural, and capital damage that render affected areas indefinitely uninhabitable are sufficient reasons for many to oppose nuclear energy. Some critics, such as Muellner et al., (2021) also argue that nuclear power's contribution to mitigating climate change will be minimal (although their argument comes from a "main source of future electricity generation" rather than its efficacy as part of a greater diversified production strategy).

In addition to the environmental, structural, and capital damage caused by reactor failures, the safe transportation and storage of radioactive nuclear waste, (Gardoni & Murphy, 2015; Jacoby, 2020; Saraç-Lesavre et al., 2021; Siegel, 2020) the weaponization of uranium, which is the main fuel that is enriched and used to power nuclear reactors, (World Nuclear Association, n. d.) and concerns of nuclear war between both major nuclear states and actors outside the nuclear regime such as North Korea, (Grove, 2022; Pazzanese, 2022) make nuclear technology unacceptable for many.

Finally, opponents argue that the upfront capital cost and build time of nuclear reactors make them economically unsound, particularly as the cost of renewable production continues to fall and with the (until recently) relatively low cost of natural gas. (Dunai & Clercq, 2019; Ferguson, 2011; Lovins, 2021)

Proponents of nuclear energy argue that it plays a unique role in energy security by providing carbon-free, reliable, cost-effective energy. Meserve (2009) argues that nuclear power is an attractive energy source, not only in combatting climate change but in providing energy reliably and relatively cheap. Hassan et al. (2020) point out that nuclear energy can

contribute significantly to "ensuring energy security" while also reducing carbon pollution in developing nations and economies, such as the BRICS countries, where reliable, carbon-free energy is crucial.

In terms of safety, proponents argue that enhanced safety standards implemented since the Fukushima accident will ensure the continued safe operations of nuclear reactors. According to the World Nuclear Association (2022b), these standards have been effective since there have been no further accidents since their implementation. They also argue that current facilities for the transportation and storage of nuclear waste are sufficient. (Nuclear Regulatory Commission, 2021) Finally, proponents argue that the weaponization of uranium is unlikely because few non-nuclear states or non-state actors have the facilities to enrich uranium, which is usually enriched to between 3 and 5% for power production, (Center for Arms Control and Non-Proliferation, n.d.) to weapons-grade at 90%. (World Nuclear Association, 2017)

Despite the substantial capital costs of conventional Nuclear Power Plants (NPPs), which critics argue are unwarranted compared to the lower costs of renewable energy and natural gas, institutions such as the World Nuclear Association (2021b), the Nuclear Energy Association (2021), and scholars such as Rhodes (2018), Swanek (2018), and Ulmer-Scholle (2022) argue that nuclear energy has an overall lower cost long-term.

With new technology on the horizon in the form of, among other promising technological developments, Small Modular Reactors (SMRs), nuclear energy has the potential flexibility and adaptability to be a significant "resource in humanity's arsenal in the fight against climate change" (Siegel) reliably and more cost-effectively. SMRs, according to Budinger & Bauman, will mitigate many safety concerns raised by nuclear opponents because they do not need water or giant cooling towers. They can operate with minimal manpower, thus mitigating the lack of technical capacity in many developing countries. The

design is inherently safe and includes automatic shutdown mechanisms in the event of an overheat (Cho, 2019; Parshley, 2021). Because of their small design, SMRs can also be constructed onsite, reproduced, transported, and deployed more quickly, efficiently, and at a lower cost than conventional large-scale reactors. (Fitzpatrick, 2017; Iurshina et al., 2019)

The International Atomic Energy Agency: A Nuclear Hegemon?

As Cox notes, international organizations, such as the United Nations, and the Bretton Woods institutions, such as the World Bank and International Monetary Fund (IMF), are mechanisms "through which the universal norms of a world hegemony are expressed." He notes five attributes of international organizations that "express their hegemonic role:

- (1) They embody the rules which facilitate the expansion of hegemonic world order;
- (2) they are themselves the product of the hegemonic world order; (3) they ideologically legitimate the norms of the world order; (4) they co-opt the elites from peripheral countries and (5) they absorb counter-hegemonic ideas."

The International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) is an autonomous international organization within the United Nations (IAEA, 2016). Within the U.N. system, it works with over 12 U.N. agencies, including close coordination with the U.N. Security Council and the European Commission within the European Union. It officially came into being on 29 July, 1957 with President Dwight Eisenhower's ratification of the U.S. Statute. (IAEA). According to the Statute (2014), its objectives are to "accelerate and enlarge" the capacity of nuclear energy to promote peace and prosperity worldwide, contribute to improvements in health and medicine, and ensure that it is not used for military purposes. It also aims to enable "countries that were not among the advanced nuclear powers to take advantage of the nuclear age for a variety of uses and ensuring that nuclear facilities were not diverted from civil to military uses." (de Blasio & Nephew)

As an actor, The IAEA procures over one hundred million dollars annually in goods and services, most of which are delivered to member states worldwide. The list of services

includes construction services and upgrades for nuclear facilities, disposal of nuclear waste, supplies, and equipment related to nuclear technology, raw materials for production, and goods and services related to safety and security. It serves a crucial role as the international safeguards inspectorate, which verifies compliance by non-nuclear weapon states with international rules under the NPT. As a resource, the IAEA's initiatives and programs, as well as research and publications, are utilized by member states to pursue their interests, which range from energy production to medicine, health and food production, and ultimately to weapons policy.

Brown (2015) argues that the IAEA has established itself as an international nuclear authority and is "an autonomous agent of global governance", having managed to gain considerable compliance and cooperation from the international community on its rules and services implemented. It has also established legitimacy by utilizing a strong policy bias relative to other international organizations.

The IAEA wields authority through two sources of independent power in international governance which Barkin (2013) identifies as moral authority and political entrepreneurship. Moral authority, he maintains, can be manifest in two areas. The first area is the legitimacy of the IAEA to act as an "official voice" and to command the global community's attention on nuclear technology issues. Secondly, as Brown notes, favorable assets such as the ability to leverage economies of scale in its projects and its perceived apolitical nature both also give weight to its moral authority, which can compel states to comply or consent in certain policy areas.

Political entrepreneurship, according to Barkin, is a process by which specific political positions are advanced through governance mechanisms. Thus, the IAEA is able to wield power by focusing international attention on issues that they deem important, as Secretary-General Mohamed El Baradei did through his initiative to prevent the militarization

of nuclear energy and ensure safety in peaceful applications (United Nations, 2005) for which he and the IAEA were awarded the 2005 Nobel Peace Prize.

Considering that the IAEA is funded mainly by Member State contributions as well as some voluntary contributions, its activities logically reflect the interests of its biggest contributors. Findlay (2012) maintains that international organizations' budgets are "determined by a combination of politics, history, organizational inertia, competing priorities, and the health of member states' finances." Therefore, despite its moral authority, legitimized by its role in the NPT and Nobel prize, the IAEA is nonetheless asymmetrically dependent on funding from member states and represents the western global order that many non-aligned nations are now challenging.

Recalling Cox's five hegemonic attributes of international organizations, it can be argued that the IAEA does embody rules that facilitate the expansion of the hegemonic world order. However, its activities are limited mainly to safety and security and therefore do not play a significant role in influencing states' behavior in geopolitics. While it is a product of the hegemonic world order and legitimates its norms, those norms are still defined by western values that are informed in a decidedly unidirectional manner. By perpetuating what can be perceived as western values, it could be argued that the IAEA continues to promote western hegemonic ideas versus absorbing counter-hegemonic ideas. Based on Cox's criteria and the IAEA's limited capacity to influence and inform the geopolitical behavior of states beyond areas of nuclear safety and security, not to mention the internal challenges it faces to function properly in even this capacity, this work concludes that it is not a hegemon.

Russia: The World's One-stop Nuclear Shop

Over the last two decades, Russia has become the world's go-to supplier of nuclear technology, especially for countries new to the civilian nuclear market. She is deeply experienced in constructing and maintaining nuclear plants, has considerable industrial and scientific capacity, as well as market share of the global uranium supply, and has the capacity

to reclaim spent nuclear fuel from client states. By positioning itself as a one-stop-shop for reactors, fuel supply and reclamation, financing, and worker training, (Lovering & Halland, 2022) Russia embodies the Dependency dimension of Nuclear Hegemony.

Russia's rise as a nuclear energy player started in 2006 with the Kremlin's \$55-billion plan to become a "leading global supplier of nuclear power". (Conant, 2013) By 2014 Russia had built 37 percent of all new nuclear reactors, compared to the US's 7 percent. (Lecavalier, 2015) Of the 439 nuclear reactors currently operating globally, 38 generate electricity in Russia. Additionally, 42 Russian-designed VVER reactors operate in Armenia, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Finland, Hungary, India, Slovakia, and Ukraine, and an additional fifteen were under construction in Bangladesh, Belarus, China, Finland, Hungary, India, Iran, Slovakia, and Turkey as of 2021. (Bowen & Dabbar, 2022a) She has signed bilateral nuclear cooperation agreements with a total of 47 countries and has nuclear energy footprints in Africa, Asia, the Middle East, and South America. (Lovering & Halland, 2022)

According to the IAEA, (2021) Russia enjoys competitive strength in nuclear energy through its technological capacity, which includes intellectual property, manufacturing infrastructure, and workforce. Through its state-owned atomic energy corporation, Rosatom, Russia is able to "oversee and work at all stages of the nuclear fuel cycle and production chain, from uranium mining to decommissioning of nuclear facilities or management of spent nuclear fuel", which enables it to construct and operate nuclear reactors safely and economically. This makes it an attractive partner for energy-hungry states, especially developing states with limited capacity and financial resources.

She is also able to exercise considerable power in the nuclear Supply Chain through the considerable market share capture (Sallee, 2021) of many of the components of energy production. Through Rosatom, Russia controls key facilities in the mining, milling, conversion, and enrichment of uranium, as well as fuel fabrication and the manufacture and

distribution of "equipment, parts, and services for nuclear reactors." (Bowen & Dabbar, 2022b) According to Lovering & Halland, (2022) Russia controls nearly half of the global uranium enrichment capacity. Together with Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan, they supply half of the U.S.'s nuclear power imports and nearly 40 percent of Europe's.

Currently, Rosatom is the only nuclear supplier that can reclaim spent nuclear fuel from foreign clients to temporarily store and reprocess. (Kim, 2021; Schepers, 2019)

Considering that most developing states and emerging economies lack the capacity to safely manage nuclear waste (which can potentially be weaponized) and considering that proper storage and management continue to challenge even developed states, the reclamation of spent fuel makes Russia not only an attractive supplier for "nuclear newcomer states", (Kerr, n.d.) but also offers a strong counter-narrative against criticism of her lax safety standards (Stulberg et al., 2021) and provides safeguard mechanism nuclear waste.

Since Rosatom is a state-owned enterprise (SOE), Russia can easily penetrate the nuclear export market by offering client states government subsidized loans with favorable terms that the U.S. cannot match. (Hayunga, 2020) Like China, this gives the Russian government direct and complete control over not only the construction of nuclear equipment and supply chains but also financing. This gives both countries a competitive advantage over the U.S., whose Export-Import Bank (EXIM) lending schemes are regulated by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development's (OECD) Arrangement on Officially Supported Export Credits which severely limited the financing of its nuclear exports until recently. (Nakano)

Ultimately, this means that Russia can establish a nuclear foothold in many client states efficiently and cheaply. In addition to financing 90% of the Rooppur Nuclear Power Plant in Bangladesh, and nearly 50% of the El Daaba reactor in Egypt (Schneider et al., 2018), Rosatom also offered to fund 100% of a nuclear project in Hungary, though Hungary

ultimately accepted a lesser amount. (Saha, 2017). Most Russian NPPs are built under EPC (Engineering, Procurement, and Construction) or "turnkey" contracts, (Lieu, 2020) where Rosatom designs and builds the reactors and then hands them over to the client state's utility company. (Schepers, 2019) However, the Akkuyu reactor in Turkey, which is currently under construction, was contracted under a "Build-Own-Operate" (BOO) agreement, where Rosatom will finance and retain ownership of the estimated \$22 billion project (Schneider et al.) and sell electricity back to Turkey (Sallee, 2021) While the financial efficacy of the BOO remains to be seen, Russia's energy strategy is proving to be a reliable source of income. As Schepers notes, from Rosatom's 2017 "Performance of State Atomic Energy Corporation" report, more than one-third of Rosatom's international revenue came from NPP constriction.

By establishing itself as a one-stop shop for nuclear energy production that includes "flexible financing options, training opportunities, and support with developing nuclear infrastructures related to safety, security, non-proliferation and export control requirements", (Schepers, 2019) Russia has ensured that its clients will remain dependent for all aspects of production and for a long time, considering the length of nuclear projects. It also ensures a steady income stream with the potential for parallel long-term partnerships in other areas of cooperation with its client states. It is, therefore, positioned to leverage its control of the supply chain to exert influence over its clients in the greater geopolitical environment over a long period of time. Given current events, this is concerning. As Russia controls a substantial supply of the world's natural gas, which it has been accused of politicizing and weaponizing. (Eddy & Stevis-Gridneff, 2022; Sabadus, 2022) the implication that it could employ a similar strategy with nuclear power is obvious. By controlling 40% of the global uranium conversion market and 46% of global uranium enrichment capacity, (Bowen & Dabbar; 2022b) Russia could easily disrupt the energy supply of any country dependent on it. This potential threat is not limited to prospective client states, as evident by the fact that despite its activities in

Ukraine, Russia's uranium exports have yet to be sanctioned. (Arai & Hanawa, 2022; Freebairn, 2022; Hunnicutt & Scheyder, 2022; Wesolowsky, 2022)

Consequently, it can be concluded that Russia is exercising its Nuclear Hegemony by virtue of establishing a firm system of dependency through which it can exercise power over other states. While the cooperative nature of its bilateral agreements implies power by consent, the coercive, realist potential is nonetheless apparent.

China: Financing the Global Nuclear Belt

China's geopolitical nuclear power strategy is best conceived as a component of her Belt and Road Initiative (Ramana, 2022; Yi, 2018), which is branded as "a transcontinental long-term policy and investment program which aims at infrastructure development and acceleration of the economic integration of countries along the route of the historic Silk Road" (BRI, n.d.) that is intended to connect Asia, Europe, and Africa (Chatzky & McBride, 2020)

The BRI is a two-pronged initiative consisting of a land corridor, known as the Silk Road Economic Belt (SREB), and a sea corridor, known as the Maritime Silk Road (MRS), that will connect China with Europe and strategic sites in Africa through infrastructure projects related to energy, commerce, and transportation. (Kim, 2021) So far, 143 countries have agreed to participate in the BRI with about \$8 trillion of announced investments. (Sandalow, 2019) When completed, the BRI will span over 70 countries, representing 60% of the global population and nearly 30% of the global GDP. (Sarwar, 2018)

The SREB has three main routes through Eurasia: the northern route from China to Northern Europe via the Eurasia land bridge through Russia to Germany; the middle route consisting of oil and gas pipelines running from Beijing to Paris via Afghanistan and Kazakhstan; and the southern route consisting of transnational highways running from Beijing through Southern Xinjiang, Pakistan, Iran, Iraq, Turkey, Italy, through to Spain. (Sarwar) The MRS meanwhile aims to establish a seabound network by developing,

constructing, expanding, and operating ports, industrial parks, and special economic zones (SEZs) throughout the South China Sea and the Indian Ocean. (Ghiasy et al.,2018)

Sarwar argues that, unlike the original Silk Road, which facilitated trade and cultural exchanges between the east and west, the BRI is not only "an overt expression of China's power ambitions in the 21st century" but is also a geopolitical tool for China to counter the U.S.'s geopolitical pivot to Asia, and function as a foundation of a new global economy centered around China. Ayres, (2017) and Hillman & Sacks, (2021) and Zhang (2018) likewise caution about the political and economic threats that the BRI represents, not only to the west but also to BRI host countries.

Other scholars, such as Jin, (2017) suggest that China, BRI host countries, and even peripheral countries will benefit from the improved political and diplomatic relations that will be facilitated by the enhanced infrastructure connectivity, deepening economic cooperation, and person-to-person interactions facilitated by the BRI.

Kim (2021) conducted extensive research for the Wilson Center on the nuclear energy aspect of the BRI, which she notes is "important and understudied." China's global nuclear strategy, which aims at global dominance in high-tech sectors, was articulated in its 10-year "Made in China 2025" industrial policy in 2015. Through the BRI, she aims to build up to 30 overseas nuclear reactors by 2030, having (Reuters, 2019b) already built four nuclear reactors in Pakistan, with the goal to build 2 more. (Parameswaran, 2015; Tabeta, 2020) She is also in various stages of development of nuclear energy programs in Romania, Argentina, Brazil, the UK, Iran, Turkey, South Africa, Kenya, Egypt, Sudan, Armenia, The Philippines, Kazakhstan, and Saudi Arabia. (Rogers & Crow-Miller, 2017; WNA, 2022b)

China's domestic nuclear market has grown substantially over the last three decades.

Driven by increasingly poor air quality from coal-fired power plants in the 1970s, Beijing

began to develop alternative energy sources. (Fairley, 2018; WNA) Therefore, Beijing began to invest heavily in domestic nuclear energy production.

Currently, China develops, constructs, and operates nuclear reactors through its three state-owned nuclear agencies: the Chinese National Nuclear Corporation (CNNC), the China General Nuclear Power Group (CGN), and the State Power Investment Corporation (SPIC) (WNA).

China's substantial investment in its nuclear industry (Baker et al., 2017) has enabled it to develop an array of domestically produced reactor models, such as the Hualong One (whose design is based on western technology) and is protected by intellectual property rights. (Reuters, 2019a) The first exported Hualong One reactor began construction in Pakistan in 2015 and commenced operation in May 2021. It is expected that China will ultimately construct a total of six nuclear reactors in that country. (ANS, 2021) According to Sallee, this homegrown reactor will give China access to new revenue streams and facilitate the building of stronger partnerships abroad. It is also representative of "China breaking the monopoly of foreign nuclear power technology and officially entering the technology's first batch of advanced countries."

Like Russia, China is able to penetrate the foreign nuclear market by offering generous and flexible financial terms, such as low-interest and concessionary loans with long grace periods (Chatzky & McBride; Mehta, 2020) to client states for whom nuclear reactors would otherwise be unaffordable. (American Security Project, 2019; Bastian, J.; 2021; Chatzky & McBride; Kim) Since these contracts often lack transparency, (Bastian, Gupta, and Hurley et al.) client states are likely not fully aware of what they are committing to.

According to Bing-Ming (2021), these financial arrangements, and the length of time of nuclear projects equate to a "marriage [that] is not easily dissolved." He goes on to explain that if a client state enters into a nuclear agreement with China and then decides to suspend

the project in the pre-construction phase, it is liable for sizeable damages to China for breach of contract. Once reactor construction has begun, Bing-Ming continues, "the marriage is truly ironclad." This is because China, like Russia, has developed a supply chain that includes partnerships for uranium imports with BRI partners Namibia and Kazakhstan (WNA, 2021a), as well as control of equipment, technology, workforce, and waste disposal supplies and facilities by her state-owned nuclear utilities, rendering the client state dependent over a long time.

Some critics claim that China's financial strategies harm client states, leaving them vulnerable and dependent on China. (Ayres, 2017; Brattberg & Soula, 2018; Chatzky & McBride, 2020; Hurley et al., 2021) Others, such as Gupta (2020) and Mehta, suggest that they are a deliberate tactic to lure states into "debt traps" through which China can secure a long-term foothold in other countries and acquire control of their resources and strategic locations.

In any case, the debt crises in many of China's client states are causing concern. The situation is particularly dire in Africa, where China is the top lender. (Chaudhury, 2021)

Despite denial by the Kenyan government, concern remains that Kenya could lose its port in Mombasa to China over its struggles to repay its \$50 billion debt. (Chaudhury, 2019) Angola is likewise having to repay its debt in crude oil, (Pandey, 2018) leaving little for the country. Elsewhere, Tajikstan reportedly ceded 1,100 kilometers of disputed territory to China in exchange for debt forgiveness for an unspecified amount. (Gupta, 2020) China also assumed an 85% stake in the Hambantota Port in Sri Lanka under a 99-year concession for the \$1.1 billion package for the construction of the port.

From a hegemonic standpoint, we could consider China's nuclear strategy as a synthesis of the liberal and constructivist approaches. Its nuclear programs consist of bilateral agreements based on consent that have the dual potential to fulfill client states' energy needs

while affording China access to resources it needs to manage its domestic challenges. China is also incorporating new ideas and approaches by partnering with client states outside the traditional nuclear regime while embarking on one of the most ambitious infrastructure programs in history.

Throughout this analysis, we must heed our contemporaries' warning that in any hegemonic relationship, coercion is always implied. China is in various stages of nuclear cooperation with the Philippines, Thailand, Singapore, Cambodia, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Kenya, and Namibia, (WNA, 2022f) who are all participating in the BRI. (FSIF, 2021) Suppose we frame China's nuclear export strategy within the context of the BRI. In that case, it is easy to envision a coastal nuclear maritime route from China through the highly contested Malacca Strait (Greco, 2022) around the Indian Ocean and back.

Therefore, it could be argued that China is building hegemony in nuclear energy by establishing a supply chain that includes fuel, technological know-how, hardware, manpower, and disposal, similar to Russia. Driven by the aspirations of the BRI, it has been able to expand its hegemonic footprint by offering innovative and relatively affordable reactors with appealing financing terms that, while offering its client states cheap, reliable, and low-carbon energy could also render them not only dependent but also obligated for nearly a century if they default. Therefore, the latent coercive implications of hegemony are always there.

The United States: The Original Nuclear Hegemon

For decades, according to Poneman et al., (2017) the United States was the alpha and the omega of nuclear technologies. It established a new hegemonic world order post World War II, (Cox) leveraging its dominance of the global nuclear exports market to shape international nuclear governance through the Cold War. (Sallee) It could be argued that the U.S.'s entry into contemporary nuclear geopolitics was one of experimentation. Jurewitz (2002) notes that the first phase of nuclear development, which took place between 1955 and 1974, consisted of a series of "commitments to commercial development [that] were made

amidst massive technical uncertainties." Drogan, likewise, characterizes American nuclear exports as financial commitments to "learning by doing". This stands to reason because the post-World War II world order was still taking shape, and nuclear technology capabilities and utilization were still unclear. This analysis frames the American civilian nuclear program and its utilization as a foreign policy tool within a context of experimentation that we can consider a blueprint upon which other prospective nuclear hegemons built their programs.

The United States' nuclear foreign policy was initially marked by both a "legacy of assumptions, options, and fears" inherited post-World War II from the Roosevelt administration (Bernstein, 1975) and a policy approach based on "technology denial and secrecy". (Lavoy, 2003) The latter point is evident with the implementation of the Atomic Energy Act of 1946 during the Truman administration, which aimed to restrict access to nuclear technology and equipment and prevent the dissemination of scientific data. (de Blasio & Nephew, 2017; Hicks, 2014). The Soviet Union's first detonation of a thermonuclear device in 1953, (Medhurst) however, made it clear that nuclear technology could not be contained and thus began "the great contest between Western freedom and Soviet totalitarianism". (Gattie & Massey, 2020)

In the context of this great contest, the Eisenhower administration adopted a new approach to nuclear technology, which became known as the "Atoms for Peace" program, (Lavoy) which Rowberry (2013) describes as an exchange of American research reactors, fuel and scientific training for developing countries' commitment to use the technology only for "peaceful, civilian purposes." This approach, which Mateos & Suárez-Díaz (2016) argue was "an essential piece in the U.S. defense strategy and foreign policy at the beginning of the Cold War", led to the creation of the IAEA and included the 1954 amendment to the Atomic Energy Act. The amendment "liberalized the US nuclear enterprise by allowing private companies to develop and construct nuclear reactors domestically" (Gattie & Massey) and

allowed industry to engage with foreign partners in the sharing of scientific and technological knowledge for peaceful use (Lavoy) under federal government regulation.

Medhurst identifies four dimensions of the Atoms for Peace Program: 1. The Military and Security dimension, in which nuclear technology was reframed to focus public attention on its societal benefits and divert attention away from its destructive capabilities while the U.S. concurrently built up its nuclear arsenal to counter the Soviet Union; 2. The Economic dimension, which would create a domestic power industry and afford access to foreign markets by constructing NPPs; 3. The Diplomatic dimension, through which the U.S. would build trust with the Soviets through the IAEA and lead to eventual disarmament; 4. The Psychological dimension, which would build the U.S. brand as a benevolent and peace-loving nation that would help the world's impoverished nations develop (and simultaneously contain frame the USSR and Communist ideology as obstacles to peace and prosperity).

While he acknowledges the Economic, Diplomatic, and Psychological dimensions, Medhurst emphasizes the impact of the Military and Security dimension, the ultimate aim of which, he argues, was the "nuclearization" of the U.S.'s NATO allies to rebuff the Soviet Union. Several factors support this argument: 1. The U.S.'s first three nuclear cooperation agreements were with Belgium, Canada, and Great Britain (Colgan & Miller, 2019); 2. U.S. nuclear exports have not enjoyed much success in regions such as Latin America (Drogan, 2019) and other countries less connected to the Cold War; 3. As Gonzalez noted, while other countries began to consider alternative energy sources, including nuclear energy, during the 1970s oil crisis, the U.S., whose civilian nuclear efforts were already on the decline (Joskow & Parsons, 2009), chose not to reconsider nuclear power. If energy security was a vital element of the U.S. nuclear strategy, why was it not more rigorously pursued during the crisis? This paper, therefore, accepts NATO nuclearization, or more broadly, a classic realist,

coercive strategy as the driving force behind Atoms for Peace and the underlying goal of the U.S.'s nuclear foreign policy.

According to the 1954 National Security Council Report by the State Department, initial nuclear exports were transacted through bilateral agreements where technology and knowledge, including the building of reactors, were provided in exchange for "a steady flow of radioactive ores" or other resources. In establishing these supply chains, Medhurst notes that some of the U.S.'s relationships, such as those with Belgium, Australia, and South Africa, were simple quid-pro-quo agreements that ensured a steady supply of uranium or thorium in exchange for technology, hardware, human resources, and fissionable material. He argues, however, that in less developed countries, the reactor programs "functioned as a form of Industrial imperialism" where the U.S. could gain a technological and economic foothold in countries that lacked nuclear capacity.

As with Russia and China's nuclear programs, these supply chains were crucial mechanisms through which the US established dominance in nuclear energy production. The architects of "Atoms for Peace" were aware that if the US industry could be the first to establish a global nuclear presence in strategic countries, those countries would almost inevitably be dependent for design, construction, initial operation, educational materials, and every other aspect of the infant industry." (Medhurst)

Ultimately, according to Piercy, (2020) rising costs, the proliferation of renewable energy and natural gas, not to mention the accident at Three Mile Island all contributed to the decline of American leadership in nuclear energy.

Nuclear Hegemony Defined

We have established that current concepts of hegemony concern the capacity of a dominant state to exercise influence and power over other, less powerful states. Analyses of Russia, China, and U.S. civilian nuclear programs revealed that they have been able to leverage their technological and financial capacities to penetrate foreign energy markets and

exert power and influence over less developed countries by establishing Dependency over a long period of time. Consequently, they have positioned themselves to assert influence in global nuclear energy governance and the greater geopolitical landscape.

We have also established that there are differing scholarly concepts of the coercive versus consensual exercise of the hegemonic relationship. One of the aims of this work is to conceptualize a definition outside the coercive, realist narrative that frames much of the discourse on nuclear technology. Russia and China have, at a superficial level at least, adopted liberal or even constructivist characteristics in their nuclear exports as articulated by cooperation and "win-win" scenarios where developing countries acquire low-carbon energy production capacity while Russia and China gain access to foreign resources and access to foreign markets for their surplus manufactured goods. They are also challenging current nuclear governance by working with a variety of states outside the conventional western-lead nuclear regime.

This paper, therefore, rejects the conventional terminology applied to states in hegemonic relationships, such as dominance (Clingan, Gilpin, Joseph) or subordinate and submissive (Cox, Fenton, Moolakkattu, 2009). This is because the traditional realist concept of hegemony is neither suitable nor accurate when describing the power balance in nuclear energy relationships, mainly because the fluctuating geopolitical landscape does not align with conventional concepts of hegemony. As research suggests, these new relationships are, at least on a surface level, displaying liberal and possibly constructivist features.

To more accurately articulate the role of actors in this new form of nuclear energy governance, we conceive as "preponderant" the hegemon who controls a greater share of resources and capacity (Ougaard) and leverages them to derive power from gaps (Craig, 2009) over the "acquiescent" client states who accept their expertise and leadership in their nuclear programs. Incorporating the aforementioned terms, this work defines Nuclear

Hegemony as "The leveraging of technological and financial nuclear capacities in energy generation by preponderant states over acquiescent states by establishing a system of dependency, encapsulating supply chain and financing mechanisms, over a multi-decadal time frame to exercise geopolitical power and influence."

Dimensions of Nuclear Hegemony

Analyses of Russia, China, and the U.S.'s nuclear energy programs have revealed two dimensions of Nuclear Hegemony: Dependency and Time. Dependency refers to an established relationship in which the hegemon controls all the physical elements and materials of nuclear power generation to the extent that the client state cannot manage production absent complete reliance on the hegemon's preponderant capacities.

There are three Dependency mechanisms through which the hegemon exercises its preponderance over an acquiescent state.

The first mechanism is technological capacity. The United States, Russia, and China established dominance in nuclear power because their technological prowess faced little competition. (Clifford, 2022; Graham Jr., 2022; Xie, 2022) The second mechanism is the Supply Chain. By capturing a significant market share of uranium production and commanding control of technology, intellectual property, hardware, workforce, and spent fuel reclamation, the hegemon ensures that their clients can transact with only them for their energy production. As a result, existing and future client states will continue to be Dependent on them for the foreseeable future. Bing-Ming points out that the U.S., France, Russia, and China all established robust supply chains for their nuclear industries. That these three countries are still among the top 5 global nuclear energy producers (Kumar, 2021) is not a coincidence.

The second Dependency mechanism is Financing. Both Russia and China offer favorable financing terms to client states through bi-lateral nuclear agreements that often

cover the majority of the costs of NPPs. Given the urgency of both energy demand and the need for low-carbon production in developing states, such conditions are hard to refuse.

Therefore, Financing is a mechanism by which the hegemon can easily penetrate new markets for their exports and assume control of assets in those markets in the event of a default. However, as some case studies of Chinese agreements reveal, defaults, which are likely outcomes in some developing countries, have sometimes resulted in those countries having to repay their debts through concessionary means, such as forfeiture of some control over their indigenous natural resources, or surrendering large stakes in commercial or industrial ventures.

The Time dimension of Nuclear Hegemony concerns not only the expediency with which NPPs can be built but also the lifespan of nuclear projects, which can last close to 100 years. Analyses of China and Russia's foreign nuclear projects show that their autocratic domestic political systems, government ownership of their nuclear industries, and financial resources create a conducive environment for rapid design, construction, and implementation of nuclear programs at home and for export. Consequently, they are in a better position to deliver potential energy solutions to client states more quickly and affordably than western states, which are impeded by democratic political systems, decentralized nuclear production, and lack of access to capital to construct NPPs. In such environments, the resultant delays in decision-making often cause nuclear projects to be delayed and go over budget, which subsequently drives up costs.

As analysis has also revealed, the life span of nuclear projects, from design and construction through to decommissioning, can last nearly 100 years. This ensures that client states, who are already dependent on the hegemon for fuel, technology, hardware, and manpower, will also be dependent and subject to its power and influence for nearly a century.

LIMITATIONS, APPLICATIONS, AND FUTURE AREAS FOR STUDY Limitations

The aim of this paper is to interrogate the current usage of the term nuclear hegemony and to create a foundation upon which further work on the hegemonic nature of nuclear energy can be built. This work is a culmination of eleven months of diplomacy and international relations studies. As previously noted, most literature and research on hegemony is framed within a western perspective. Filtering the obvious biases against or favoring China and her nuclear programs that informed much of the research was a profound challenge. I am confident that my travels in Asia and China, my experience living in an Eastern European country that is somewhat within Russia's sphere of influence, and the insight and perspectives I gained from studying in Switzerland have enriched my perspective sufficiently to control for some of those biases.

Accessing some Russian government documents, presumably due to the current crisis in Ukraine, and translating those that were available, were also considerable obstacles. I substituted multiple alternate sources where appropriate to build a solid understanding of Russia's civilian nuclear strategies.

Finally, as I spent much of the last eleven months overseas, geographic distance, time differences, and the lingering effects of the pandemic often prevented me from holding inperson consultations with advisors and colleagues, which would have augmented my work. Fortunately, I was able to attend an in-person course in energy diplomacy in South Africa, and those interactions have proven integral in properly framing my research.

Despite these mitigation strategies, it must be emphasized that we are in uncharted waters and are barely getting our feet wet. With the limited time to conduct research and analysis, coupled with the challenges noted above, the points raised in this work are merely observational and far from conclusive. Much more research and analysis are required, and the concepts discussed will require much refinement and revision. Nevertheless, I hope this very

basic work will inspire others to wade deeper and chart a definitive course to understand Nuclear Hegemony.

Applications

Under the current definition of Nuclear Hegemony, the hegemon can exercise power in many ways. Through the Dependency dimension, a hegemon's capture of the Supply mechanism renders the client state dependent and vulnerable to hegemonic influence (Baker et al.) to maintain energy supplies. As Kim points out, "nuclear vendors can threaten to suspend fuel supplies", as we can see with Russian supplies of natural gas to Europe. Additionally, client states are dependent on the hegemon throughout the entire Supply Chain for technology, hardware, workforce, and waste management.

Through the Finance mechanism, client states are dependent on the hegemon's capital to produce energy. As Mehta and Gupta have pointed out, default on loans can result in the hegemon appropriating a client state's resources or facilities. Using data from the World Bank and IMF, Hurley et al. identified ten counties in Central, East, South, and Southeast Asia, seven in the Middle East and Africa, and six in Europe and Eurasia that are suffering high degrees of debt distress due to BRI-related financing. If previous examples inform China's behavior towards other indebted countries, we can see a potentially larger foothold all around the BRI roadmap.

The Time dimension facilitates rapid penetration of the hegemon into the client state's markets and, due to the lifespan of nuclear reactors, ensures a relationship that can last up to a century, during which the hegemon can grow its foothold in that state. (American Security Project, Nakano,)

This intersectionality of Dependence and Time presents a profound paradigm. If we accept British Prime Minister Harold Wilson's assertion that "a week is a long time in politics", (Stevenson, 2022) then a century in geopolitics might as well be a millennium. As Russia, China, and other non-aligned countries continue to gain power and influence in the

global system, 100 years is an enormous window for both countries to affect geopolitics as Nuclear Hegemons. (Hayunga, Liu, Nakano, Schepers,)

We can use history to attempt a prediction of how these countries will assert their hegemonic position. Geller characterizes Russia as "an aggressive, paranoid, power-seeking, and autocratic state, no matter its leader." Its foreign policy, he maintains, can be summarized as a long history of aggression toward bordering countries, driven by an ongoing desire to protect its borders but often marked by defeat and humiliation.

Regardless of Russia's motivations, its primary foreign policy objective can be conceived as an aim to secure its territorial and political sovereignty (Volker, 2022; Palaccio,2022) and legitimize its status as a world leader. Its activities in Ukraine can be seen as securing its territory in Europe and rebuffing further NATO expansion. On a global level, its diplomatic activities in South and Central America can be seen as further efforts to contain American spheres of influence. (Baker et al., Feldman & Lavi, 2022; Palaccio)

From a Nuclear Hegemonic perspective, it seeks to surpass the United States in nuclear technology and "solidify its status as a top nuclear power." (Geller) Its control of a large share of uranium gives its nuclear supply chain leverage to which many countries, including the U.S., are vulnerable. Its hegemonic power over many non-aligned countries, defined by Dependency and Time, put it in a unique position to reshape global governance within the nuclear realm and the greater sphere of geopolitics. It could, for example, compel client states to support its measures and initiatives that increase its power in global institutions such as the United Nations. (Baker et al.) That it enjoys significant revenues from nuclear exports ensures that it has the financial means to further its activities in non-aligned countries

While Shambaugh maintains that China "is a single-dimension power-economic", Bing-Ming argues that China's economic ambitions as articulated through the BRI are

"superseded by political considerations" characterized as a "pushback" against the U.S.'s pivot to Asia. (Chatzky & McBride). China faces domestic challenges such as poverty, income inequality, and energy insecurity. (Goodman, 2021; Ling & Wang, 2020) Therefore, the BRI does serve an economic function by ensuring revenue and resource flows from its overseas projects. Cavanna (2018) elaborates, characterizing the BRI as China's effort to stabilize "its western peripheries, rekindle its economy, propel non-Western international economic institutions, gain influence in other countries, and diversify trade suppliers/routes while circumventing the U.S. pivot to Asia." Finally, according to Schuman (2021), China seeks to reshape the world order in closer alignment with its own concepts of governance and leadership, while Feldman & Lavi suggest that she is also eager to restore "the glory of its past in the Imperial period."

As a Nuclear Hegemon, China is in a position to secure its MRS goals by deploying its nuclear exports in strategic coastal sites in the South China Sea and the Indian Ocean. It can gain acquiescence from client states in those sites by employing Finance mechanisms. Should those client states default, it can appropriate resources or facilities over a long-term period ensuring its power in those areas and securing its MRS foothold. As Kim points out, China's growing nuclear dominance, particularly in non-aligned states, puts it in a position to leverage its power to not only ensure a steady supply of revenue and resource needs but also reshape its position in nuclear and global governance by compelling client states to support its positions in global institutions. (Brattberg & Soula, 2018; Chatzky & McBride)

With nuclear projects in various stages of development in Europe, including the potential construction of a Hualong One reactor in the United Kingdom, which would be the first Chinese-manufactured reactor to be constructed in Europe, (Baker et al., Hesketh et al., 2022; Kim) China's Nuclear BRI seems well poised to realize its goal of connecting Asia and Europe and garner legitimacy for its nuclear prowess. Her nuclear overtures toward states in

Central and South America, on the other hand, seem to indicate an attempt to contain the U.S. (WNA, 2022f)

We can therefore view China exercising its Nuclear Hegemony to connect Asia to Europe, secure its position in the South China Sea and Indian Oceans through the BRI, and potentially leveraging it to change nuclear and global governance. Russia is utilizing Nuclear Hegemony to secure its borders and regain former Soviet territory, with nuclear revenues driving those efforts and potentially driving change in governance. Both are also attempting to contain U.S. influence in Asia and Central and South America. Meanwhile, the U.S. and its western allies are attempting to reestablish hegemony by reviving fuel supply chains, financing nuclear exports, and accelerating new nuclear technology.

For the foreseeable future, it appears that Russia will continue to be the dominant player (Kim), as it currently is the top nuclear exporter (Nakano), has considerable control over the uranium market, offers favorable financial conditions, and can reclaim spent nuclear fuel. (Bastian, Kim, Nakano) However, as Nakano argues, China has considerable capital that could enable it to surpass Russia, especially if sanctions over Ukraine (Hayunga, Ramana) impact its exports.

While Chatzky & McBride suggest that Russia and China could partner more closely in nuclear projects, Yellen (2020) argues that this is not likely because they are competitors in the market (something, he suggests, the U.S. should exploit). It is also worth noting that both countries face obstacles to their hegemonic aspirations. Despite China's nuclear ambitions, it has suffered several delays in reactor construction. (Dangwal and Ramana) Meanwhile, besides sanctions, Rosatom's nuclear contract in Finland was recently canceled, (Liu, 2022) and its contract with Hungary could see a similar fate. (Ramana) There has also been some backlash from participating countries to the BRI (Chatzky & McBride) that could impede its progress.

At the same time, recent developments in the United States indicate more concrete steps to reclaiming its Nuclear Hegemony. Earlier this year, the Biden administration announced a \$6 billion fund to keep some older domestic nuclear reactors operational and more cost-effective. An additional \$2.5 billion was invested in nuclear projects in Washington State and Wyoming (Penn, 2022) Internationally,

In April 2022, the United States Senate introduced the International Nuclear Energy Act, which aims to reestablish U.S. leadership in nuclear production by increasing international nuclear energy cooperation by creating enhanced financing and security mechanisms that facilitate civil nuclear exports. Additionally, Hayunga notes that EXIM can finance large-scale projects again, and the ban on funding nuclear projects by International Development Finance Corporation (DFC) was lifted in 2020.

Ultimately, although Russia and China seem to be on a firm trajectory toward achieving Nuclear Hegemony, the complex nature of nuclear energy, combined with the geopolitical challenges they face, could severely impede their ability to realize their aspirations' full potential. By the same token, although the U.S. and the west face formidable obstacles to reestablishing Nuclear Hegemony, recent promising developments could enable them to reclaim their preponderance in global nuclear governance.

Areas for Future Study

An analysis of current geopolitical trends concerning nuclear governance has revealed several areas where this definition of Nuclear Hegemony can be applied and refined in academia. There are three unstable regions where China and Russia are competing in the nuclear energy market: Pakistan, Kazakhstan, and Iran.

As Parameswaran notes, Pakistan is China's first nuclear importer. Meanwhile, Russia has been exporting its own technology to India. (Sengupta & Ponangi, 2022) In a region marked by "rivalries and deteriorating relationships" between India and Pakistan (Rupert, 2022) and border disputes between China and India, (Singh, 2022) instability in the

region threatens not only nuclear facilities but other infrastructure projects. Of particular interest is how the India-Pakistan rivalry could have a ripple effect on its hegemons, particularly if the nuclear projects of one hegemon are threatened by the activities of the other's client state. How Nuclear Hegemony functions in the interplay cooperative/competitive dynamic of three BRICS members is also a topic that invites more research.

Kazakhstan is a critical source of uranium in Russia's Supply Chain and a participant in the BRI. Given its geographical position and its endowment of resources, it could serve as a uniting force between Russia and China, or it could drive a wedge between the two. (Burke-White, 2022) An interesting angle to explore would be the potential bidirectionality of Nuclear Hegemony, where a perceived client state could leverage its advantages over a hegemon.

Iran is another area for further study of Nuclear Hegemony. According to Feldman & Lavi, Iran is an important geopolitical partner not only for Russia, which built a nuclear reactor in Bushehr, but also for China, which has aspirations to penetrate more Middle Eastern markets. Although Mahmoud Abbaszadeh-Meshkin, spokesman for the Iranian parliament's National Security and Foreign Policy Committee, was quoted in January of 2022 as saying that "a triangle consisting of three powers – Iran, Russia, and China" had formed in Asia, (Sinaee, 2022) the RANE network (2015), predicts that Iran could, in fact, become "the first battleground between China and Russia in terms of nuclear exports." Tanchum (2015) notes that Rosatom's nuclear monopoly in Iran, which is now being threatened by China's entry into the market, is in various stages of agreement with other countries in the Middle East, including signing a bilateral agreement with Iran's enemy, Saudi Arabia. These three areas represent a different geopolitical context to apply our definition of Nuclear Hegemony.

How the hegemons interact with each other in unstable areas in the face of more direct competition can add deeper dimensions to our definition.

The Financing dimension of Nuclear Hegemony is clearly under Russian and Chinese capture, and the U.S. and western states do not currently have the competitive capacity to leverage influence unilaterally. One solution postulated by Baker, Fitzpatrick, and Goldberg is co-financing nuclear projects by OECD states such as the U.S., Canada, the UK, France, Japan, and Korea. Collectively, these states could competitively fund nuclear projects. Many have noted that the west is far behind Russia and China in nuclear capacity. Under a new form of nuclear cooperation, a supply chain could be developed leveraging Canada and Japan's uranium capacities (WNA, 2021; 2022g) for fuel, accelerating American, French, and Japanese cooperation in the deployment of advanced reactors, such as the Economic Simplified Boiling Water Reactor (ESBWR), and the Advanced Pressurized-Water Reactor, and accelerating development and deployment of SMRs such as the American-designed NuScale reactor. (ANS, 2013) Such a strategy reduces financial liability, is more transparent, and assuages safety concerns.

From a Nuclear Hegemonic perspective, this raises three future research questions to be answered: 1. Will western Nuclear Hegemony re-emerge in a classic model vis-à-vis one state dominating supply chains? Or will they adopt a more liberal or constructivist approach?

2. How will partnering states interact with each other? 3. How would a re-emergent hegemonic west shape energy geopolitics vis-à-vis Russia and China?

Finally, there are many opportunities to challenge, amend and expand our definition of Nuclear Hegemony. This study deliberately avoided considerations of nuclear weapons because much time and effort have already been put toward the hegemonic aspect of nuclear weapons. However, scholars should conduct a comparative analysis of the energy and weapons aspects of Nuclear Hegemony. Our analysis thus far has already established that

coercion is a latent aspect of any hegemonic relationship, including Nuclear Hegemony as defined in this work. Medhurst has suggested that American civilian nuclear exports under the Atoms for Peace program were nothing more than an attempt to obscure the U.S.'s goal to nuclearize allies against the Soviets. Contemporary analysis of modern nuclear technology has raised concerns that advanced nuclear technologies are capable of being weaponized. For example, the China Experimental Fast Reactor (CEFR) is reportedly capable of generating enough weapons-grade plutonium to produce 1,270 nuclear warheads by 2030. (Sokoloski, 2021) In 2018 Nguyen reported China's intention to build and deploy up to 20 floating NPPs throughout the South China Sea to "support China's offshore oil and gas exploration, as well as to sustain the Chinese civilian presence." Given the sparse population of the islands in the region, he states that 20 NPPs are "unjustifiable if only for civil facilities." Instead, he suggests, the NPPs will be used to "solidify China's military foothold in this contested area" by powering her regional infrastructure" to guard against attack. If, therefore, nuclear weapons and energy go hand in hand, as it were, a logical next step in developing our definition of Nuclear Hegemony may be to synthesize its weapons and energy aspects,

CONCLUSION

This paper sought to develop a more refined definition of Nuclear Hegemony as it pertains to energy geopolitics. From the perspective of a looming potential global energy security crisis exacerbated by the geopolitical instability in Ukraine, coupled with the critical need to reduce carbon emissions, many western states who had previously retreated from the nuclear energy sector are now reconsidering revisiting the technology to meet increasing energy demand.

Most scholarly work on the hegemonic dimensions of nuclear energy frames them within a realist coercive context reflective of Cold War politics. However, the geopolitical landscape is dramatically changing as the rising influences of Russia, China, and other non-

aligned countries coincide with declining western dominance. These actors have the political and economic capacity to pursue their interests on their terms outside the Western governance established at the end of World War II. Russia and China have developed robust nuclear power industries, which they are eager to export to developing countries that need reliable, low-carbon energy solutions. This gives Russia and China an opportunity to establish a foothold in these countries and leverage their nuclear capacity to exert influence to alter the trajectory of the current world order.

This warrants a new definition of Nuclear Hegemony that focuses on energy geopolitics. By establishing an overall concept of hegemony that seeks to explain how more endowed states leverage their political and economic advantage to influence the behavior of less endowed states, case studies of the IAEA and Russian, Chinese, and American nuclear programs enabled us to conceive our definition of Nuclear Hegemony as "The leveraging of technological and financial nuclear capacities in energy generation by preponderant states over acquiescent states by establishing a system of dependency, encapsulating supply chain, and financing mechanisms, over a multi-decadal time frame to exercise geopolitical power and influence."

The intersectionality of Dependency and Time in Nuclear Hegemony represents a profound dynamic in the current geopolitical environment marked by Chinese and Russian nuclear export competition and Western attempts to reclaim leadership in nuclear governance.

For the foreseeable future, nuclear energy will play a part in energy geopolitics. How it will shape the future of geopolitics and who will emerge as the hegemon (or hegemons) remains to be seen. While the implications of a realist, coercive relationship are implied, it is essential to consider the liberal and constructivist aspects of Nuclear Hegemony for academic

purposes. It is hoped that this definition will be helpful to scholars in further analysis of geopolitical nuclear relationships.

REFERENCES

- Agnew, J. (2020). Immanuel Wallerstein, the "Modern World-system," and radical human geography. Human Geography, 14(1), 17–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/1942778620974056
- Alderman, L., & Reed, S. (2021, November 29). *Europe revisits nuclear power as climate deadlines loom*. The New York Times. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://www.nytimes.com/2021/11/29/business/nuclear-power-europe-climate.html
- Alexis-Martin, B. (2019). The Radical Geography of Nuclear Warfare . In Disarming doomsday: The human impact of nuclear weapons since Hiroshima (pp. 1–8). essay, Pluto Press.
- American Nuclear Society. (2013, June 11). SMRs get further push with Western Initiative for Nuclear. ANS. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.ans.org/news/article-1376/smrs-get-further-push-with-western-initiative-for-nuclear/
- American Nuclear Society. (2021, June 1). First Hualong one unit outside China enters commercial operation. American Nuclear Society. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.ans.org/news/article-2947/first-hualong-one-unit-outside-china-enters-commercial-operation/
- Askar, A. (2022, March 7). *Kazakh-Russian relations in the context of the war in Ukraine*. The Diplomat. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://thediplomat.com/2022/03/kazakh-russian-relations-in-the-context-of-the-war-in-ukraine/
- Atlantic Council (2019, April 19). *The Geopolitics of Nuclear Energy: The Role of U.S. Government and Industry, Past and Present* [Video]. YouTube. https://youtu.be/dMe0_zaFXWk
- Ayres, A. (2017, May 17). *India objects to China's belt and road initiative-and it has a point*. Council on Foreign Relations. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://www.cfr.org/blog/india-objects-chinas-belt-and-road-initiative-and-it-has-point
- Baker, S. H., Fitzpatrick, R., & Goldberg, M. (2017, January 10). *Getting back in the game: A strategy to boost American nuclear exports Third way*. Third Way. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.thirdway.org/report/getting-back-in-the-game-a-strategy-to-boost-american-nuclear-exports
- Bastian, J. (2021, February 12). *Is China's "Win-win cooperation" A loss for Europe?*Reconnecting Asia. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://reconasia.csis.org/chinas-win-win-cooperation-loss-europe
- Belt and road initiative. (n.d.). *Belt and Road Initiative*. Belt and road initiative. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.beltroad-initiative.com/belt-and-road/

- Benton, T. G., Froggatt, A., Wellesley, L., Grafham, O., King, R., Morisetti, N., Nixey, J., & Schröder, P. (2022, April). The Ukraine war and threats to food and energy security: Cascading risks from rising prices and supply disruptions. Chatham House International Affairs Think Tank. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.chathamhouse.org/
- Bernstein, S., Spring, J., & Stanway, D. (2021, August 14). Droughts shrink hydropower, pose risk to global push to clean energy. Reuters. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.reuters.com/business/sustainable-business/inconvenient-truth-droughts-shrink-hydropower-pose-risk-global-push-clean-energy-2021-08-13/
- Bin, L. (2018, January 26). Will US nuclear posture review see a return to hegemony? Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Retrieved May 11, 2022, from https://carnegieendowment.org/2018/01/26/will-us-nuclear-posture-review-see-return-to-hegemony-pub-75359
- Bing-Ming, C. (2021, May 18). China's "Nuclear Dragon" Goes Abroad: Exporting Nuclear Power Infrastructure through the Belt and Road Initiative. CIPE. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://fedn.cipe.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/New-Competitive-Authoritarianism-Report.pdf
- Blum, A. (2021, November 16). Nuclear reactors could hold the key to a green future. Time. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://time.com/6117041/nuclear-energy-reactors-green/
- Boulton, F. (2015). Dangers associated with civil nuclear power programmes: Weaponization and nuclear waste. Medicine, Conflict and Survival, 31(2), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/13623699.2015.1062336
- Bowen, M., & Dabbar, P. (2022a, May 23). Reducing Russian Involvement in Western Nuclear Power Markets. Columbia University. Retrieved July 1, 2022, from https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/research/commentary/reducing-russian-involvement-western-nuclear-power-markets
- Bowen, M., & Dabbar, P. (2022b, June 12). What's at risk due to Russia's nuclear power dominance? The Hill. Retrieved July 1, 2022, from https://thehill.com/opinion/energy-environment/3519264-whats-at-risk-due-to-russias-nuclear-power-dominance/
- Brattberg, E., & Soula, E. (2018, October 19). *Europe's emerging approach to China's belt and road initiative*. Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://carnegieendowment.org/2018/10/19/europe-s-emerging-approach-to-china-s-belt-and-road-initiative-pub-77536
- Brink, D. A. (2018). Nuclear hegemony and material indices: the satirical verse boom in daily newspapers after Fukushima. Mosaic: An Interdisciplinary Critical Journal, 51(3), 141–159. https://www.istor.org/stable/26974115

- Bronner, S. E. (2011). Introduction: what is critical theory? In Critical theory: A very short introduction (pp. 1–8). introduction, Oxford University Press.
- Brown, R. L. (2015). *Nuclear authority: The laea and the absolute weapon*. Georgetown University Press.
- Brooks, M. (2022). The nuclear option. New Scientist, 254(3388), 38–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0262-4079(22)00935-6 China and CNNC
- Budinger, B., & Bauman, P. (2022, March 14). A secure energy future needs nuclear power. The Aspen Institute. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.aspeninstitute.org/blog-posts/a-secure-energy-future-needs-nuclear-power/
- Burke-White, W. (2022, June 29). *Kazakhstan holds the keys to a new geopolitical balance in Asia*. The Hill. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://thehill.com/opinion/international/3539707-kazakhstan-holds-the-keys-to-anew-geopolitical-balance-in-asia/
- Butler, N. (2022, June 9). *Can nuclear energy make a comeback?* The ASEAN Post. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://theaseanpost.com/opinion/2022/jun/09/can-nuclear-energy-make-comeback
- Caballero-Anthony, M., & Trajano, J. C. (2015). The state of nuclear energy in ASEAN: Regional norms and Challenges. Asian Perspective, 39(4), 695–723. https://doi.org/10.1353/apr.2015.0030
- Campbell, C. (2022, April 21). *Ukraine War is Changing Europe's nuclear energy enthusiasm*. Time. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://time.com/6169164/ukraine-nuclear-energy-europe/
- Carless, T. (2020). The US shouldn't abandon the nuclear energy market. Issues in Science & Technology, 36(2), 19–22. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412959216.n146
- Cavanna, T. P. (2018, June 5). What does China's belt and road initiative mean for US grand strategy? The Diplomat. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://thediplomat.com/2018/06/what-does-chinas-belt-and-road-initiative-mean-for-us-grand-strategy/
- Chatzky, A. (2019, March 27). *China's belt and road gets a win in Italy*. Council on Foreign Relations. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://www.cfr.org/in-brief/chinas-belt-and-road-gets-win-italy
- Chatzky, A., & McBride, J. (2020, January 28). *China's Massive Belt and road initiative*. Council on Foreign Relations. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/chinas-massive-belt-and-road-initiative

- Cheng, Y. (2018, February 6). *The atomic age bears america's original sin*. Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists. Retrieved June 24, 2022, from https://thebulletin.org/2018/02/the-atomic-age-bears-americas-original-sin/#post-heading
- Cho, A. (2019, February 21). Smaller, safer, cheaper: One company aims to reinvent the nuclear reactor and save A warming planet. Science. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://www.science.org/content/article/smaller-safer-cheaper-one-company-aims-reinvent-nuclear-reactor-and-save-warming-planet
- Cho, A. (2020, May 20). *U.S. Department of Energy rushes to build advanced new nuclear reactors*. Science. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://www.science.org/content/article/us-department-energy-rushes-build-advanced-new-nuclear-reactors
- Chorafas, D. N. (2011). Energy, environment, Natural Resources and business competitiveness the fragility of interdependence. Gower.
- Clifford, C. (2022, May 23). Russia dominates nuclear power supply chains and the West needs to prepare now to be independent in the future. CNBC. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.cnbc.com/2022/05/23/russia-dominates-global-nuclear-reactor-and-fuel-supply-chains.html
- Clingan, C. E. (2013). Twilight's last gleaming American hegemony and dominance in the modern world. Lexington Books.
- Conant, E. (2013, October 17). *Russia's new empire: Nuclear power*. Pulitzer Center.

 Retrieved June 24, 2022, from https://pulitzercenter.org/stories/russias-new-empire-nuclear-power
- Cox, R. W. (1981). Social Forces, states and world orders: Beyond international relations theory. Millennium: Journal of International Studies, 10(2), 126–155. https://doi.org/10.1177/03058298810100020501
- Cox, R. 1983. "Gramsci, Hegemony and International Relations: An Essay in Method." Millennium: Journal of International Studies 12 (2): 162–175. doi:10.1177/03058298830120020701.
- Cox, R. W. (1987). Production, power, and World Order: Social Forces in the making of history. Columbia University Press.
- Cox, R. W. (1993). Gramsci, hegemony and international relations: An essay in method. Gramsci, Historical Materialism and International Relations, 49–66. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9780511558993.003
- Craig, C. (2009). American Power Preponderance and the Nuclear Revolution. *Review of International Studies*, *35*(1), 27–44. http://www.jstor.org/stable/20542763

- Crapo, M., Whitehouse, S., Ichord, R. F., Bell, R., Gordon, J. T., & Scholl, E. (2019). *US Nuclear Energy Leadership: Innovation And The Strategic Global Challenge*. Atlantic Council. Retrieved June 2, 2022, from https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/US_Nuclear_Energy_Leadership-.pdf
- Cravens, G. (2002, March 1). Terrorism and Nuclear Energy: Understanding the risks.

 Brookings. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from

 https://www.brookings.edu/articles/terrorism-and-nuclear-energy-understanding-the-risks/
- Dalton, M. (2022, June 23). *Nuclear power is poised for a comeback. the problem is building the reactors.* The Wall Street Journal. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://www.wsj.com/articles/nuclear-power-climate-change-russia-energy-11655995024
- Dangwal, A. (2022, March 4). £20b British snub to Beijing as 'blacklisted' chinese nuclear power company set to Lose Key UK Project. Latest Asian, Middle-East, EurAsian, Indian News. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://eurasiantimes.com/china-after-its-nuclear-power-company-gets-blacklisted-uk-usa/
- de Blasio, N., & Nephew, R. (2017, March). *The geopolitics of nuclear power and Technology*. Columbia | SIPA Center on Global Energy Policy. Retrieved July 24, 2022, from https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/The%20Geopolitics%20of%20N uclear%20Power%20and%20Technology%20033017.pdf
- Deudney, D. (2014). Hegemony, nuclear weapons, and liberal hegemony. Power, Order, and Change in World Politics, 195–232. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9781139680738.011
- Dlugy, Y. (2022, July 14). *Russia gets closer to Iran*. The New York Times. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.nytimes.com/2022/07/14/briefing/russia-ukraine-war-iran.html
- Donnelly, J. (2014). The realist tradition. In Realism and international relations (pp. 6–42). essay, Cambridge University Press.
- Dong, D. F., Motha, R., Qu, J. J., Shu, J., & Xu, J. C. (2018, July 1). IOPscience. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1755-1315/163/1/012126
- Drogan, M. (2015). The Nuclear Imperative: Atoms for Peace and the development of U.S. policy on Exporting Nuclear Power, 1953-1955. *Diplomatic History, 40*(5), 948–974. https://doi.org/10.1093/dh/dhv049
- Drogan, M. (2019). The atoms for peace program and the third world. *Cahiers Du Monde Russe*, 60(2/3), 441–460. https://www.jstor.org/stable/27056911

- Dunai, M., & Clercq, G. D. (2019, September 24). Nuclear energy too slow, too expensive to save climate: Report. Reuters. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://www.reuters.com/article/us-energy-nuclearpower/nuclear-energy-too-slow-too-expensive-to-save-climate-report-idUSKBN1W909J
- Eddy, M., & Stevis-gridneff, M. (2022, July 25). Russia cuts gas flow to Europe, intensifying fears it is weaponizing fuel. The New York Times. Retrieved July 28, 2022, from https://www
- El Baradei, M. (2007, September 5). Nuclear power and the global challenges of Energy Security. IAEA. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.iaea.org/newscenter/statements/nuclear-power-and-global-challenges-energy-security
- Fairley, P. (2018, December 12). China's losing its taste for Nuclear Power. that's bad news. MIT Technology Review. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.technologyreview.com/2018/12/138271/chinas-losing-its-taste-for-nuclear-power-thats-bad-news/#:~:text=China's%20energy%20planners%20launched%20its,the%20country's%20numerous%20coal%20plants.
- Feldman, B. C., & Lavi, G. (2022, February 21). *China, Russia, and the Nuclear Talks in Vienna: The Gift that Keeps Giving*. Inss.org.il. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.inss.org.il/publication/china-russia-jcpoa/
- Feldman, J. W. (2017). Nuclear energy: powering America's future. In Nuclear reactions: Documenting American encounters with nuclear energy (pp. 296–299). essay, University of Washington Press.
- Fenton, J. (2018). Putting old heads on young shoulders: Helping social work students uncover the neoliberal hegemony. Social Work Education, 37(8), 941–954. https://doi.org/10.1080/02615479.2018.1468877
- Ferguson, C. D. (2011). Energy Security and Costs of Building Power Plants. In Nuclear energy: What everyone needs to know (pp. 53–85). essay, Oxford University Press.
- Fetzek, S. (2022, March 15). Could the Ukraine crisis accelerate a longer-term policy shift away from fossil fuels?S. miss.org. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.iiss.org/blogs/analysis/2022/03/could-the-ukraine-crisis-accelerate-a-longer-term-policy-shift-away-from-fossil-fuels
- Findlay, T. (2012). *Unleashing the nuclear watchdog: Strengthening and Reform of the Iaea*. Centre for International Governance Innovation.
- FISF. (2021). *Countries of the belt and road initiative (BRI)*. Green Finance & Development Center. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://greenfdc.org/countries-of-the-belt-and-road-initiative-bri/

- Fitzpatrick, M. (2017, April 11). Nuclear power is set to get a lot safer (and cheaper) here's why. The Conversation. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://theconversation.com/nuclear-power-is-set-to-get-a-lot-safer-and-cheaper-heres-why-62207
- Freebairn, W. (2022, July 7). 'disentangling' the global nuclear fuel supply chain after Russia's invasion of Ukraine. S&P Global Commodity Insights. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/market-insights/blogs/electric-power/070722-global-nuclear-fuel-supply-chain-uranium-russia-ukraine-war
- Freeman, M. (2018, July 13). *How Russia, China use nuclear reactors to win Global Influence*. Defense One. Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://www.defenseone.com/ideas/2018/07/china-and-russia-look-dominate-global-nuclear-power/149642/
- Fukuyama, F. (1989). The End of History? The National Interest, 16, 3–18. http://www.jstor.org/stable/24027184
- Fukuyama, F. (2021, November 8). Francis Fukuyama on the end of American hegemony. The Economist. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.economist.com/the-world-ahead/2021/11/08/francis-fukuyama-on-the-end-of-american-hegemony
- Gardoni, P., & Murphy, C. (2015). Nuclear energy, thecapability approach, and the developing world. *The Ethics of Nuclear Energy*, 216–230. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9781107294905.012
- Garside, M. (2022, June 21). *Top countries uranium reserves 2020*. Statista. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.statista.com/statistics/264781/countries-with-the-largest-uranium-reserves/
- Ghiasy, R., Su, F., & SaalmaS, L. (2018). *The 21st Century maritime silk road SIPRI*. SIPRI. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.sipri.org/sites/default/files/2019-10/the-21st-century-maritime-silk-road.pdf
- Gibbons, R. D. (2016). American hegemony and the politics of the nuclear nonproliferation regime (dissertation). Georgetown University, Washington, District of Columbia.
- Gilbert, A., Bazilian, M. D., & Gross, S. (2022, December). The emerging global natural gas market and the Energy Crisis of 2021-2022. Brookings. Retrieved July 9, 2022, from https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-emerging-global-natural-gas-market-and-the-energy-crisis-of-2021-2022/
- Gilpin, R. G. (2007). No one loves a political realist. Security Studies, 5(3), 3–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/09636419608429275
- Gilpin, R. (2012). War and change in world politics. Cambridge University Press.

- Glaser, J. (2019, September 18). The Anarchy of International Relations. Cato Unbound. Retrieved June 29, 2022, from https://www.cato-unbound.org/2019/09/18/john-glaser/anarchy-international-relations/
- Goldemberg, J. (2009). Nuclear energy in developing countries. American Academy of Arts & Sciences. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.amacad.org/publication/nuclear-energy-developing-countries
- Gonzalez, G. A. (2014). The Politics of Nuclear and Solar Energy. In Energy and empire the politics of nuclear and solar power in the United States (pp. 1–11). essay, State University of New York Press.
- Gonzalez, G. A. (2018). Chapter One Energy and the Modern State. In *Energy, the modern state, and the American World System* (pp. 1–20). essay, SUNY Press.
- Goodman, J. (2021, February 28). *Has China lifted 100 million people out of poverty?* BBC News. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.bbc.com/news/56213271
- Gordon, J. T. (2020, January 9). *International co-financing of nuclear reactors between the United States and its Allies*. Atlantic Council. Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/in-depth-research-reports/issue-brief/international-co-financing-of-nuclear-reactors-between-the-united-states-and-its-allies/
- Graham Jr., T. (2022, June 3). *US Nuclear Energy Leadership: The way forward*. Atlantic Council. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/energysource/us-nuclear-energy-leadership-the-way-forward/
- Greco, A. (2022, February 17). THE STRAIT OF MALACCA: FROM SULTANATES TO SINGAPORE. Center for International Maritime Security. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://cimsec.org/the-strait-of-malacca-from-sultanates-to-singapore/
- Grove, T. (2022, March 27). Putin Stokes nuclear fears with atomic weapons warnings. The Wall Street Journal. Retrieved July 30, 2022, from https://www.wsj.com/articles/putin-stokes-nuclear-fears-with-atomic-weapons-warnings-11648381573
- Gupta, P. K. (2020, October 1). *China's debt trap in Central Asia*. Vivekananda International Foundation. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://www.vifindia.org/article/2020/october/01/china-s-debt-trap-in-central-asia
- Hafner, M., & Wochner, A. (2020). How Tectonic Shifts in Global Energy Are Affecting Global Governance. In L. Grigoryev & A. Pabst (Eds.), *Global governance in transformation challenges for international cooperation* (pp. 147–162). essay, Springer.
- Halkos, G. E., & Gkampoura, E.-C. (2020). Reviewing usage, potentials, and limitations of Renewable Energy Sources. *Energies*, *13*(11), 2906. https://doi.org/10.3390/en13112906

- Harnisch, S. (2014). Nonproliferation. In J. Sperling (Ed.), Handbook of governance and security (pp. 408–426). essay, Edward Elgar.
- Hayes, P. (1988). American nuclear hegemony in Korea. Journal of Peace Research, 25(4), 351–364. https://doi.org/10.1177/002234338802500403
- Hayes, P. (2018). Trump and the interregnum of american nuclear hegemony. Journal for Peace and Nuclear Disarmament, 1(2), 219–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/25751654.2018.1532525
- Hayunga, R. (2020, October 6). Russia and China are expanding nuclear energy exports. can the U.S. keep up? Nuclear Energy Institute. Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://www.nei.org/news/2020/russia-china
- Helman, C. (2022, April 21). Energy crisis 2021: How bad is it, and how long will it last? Forbes. Retrieved July 9, 2022, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/christopherhelman/2021/10/19/energy-crisis-2021-how-bad-is-it-and-how-long-will-it-last/?sh=617b848c4c63
- Hesketh, R., Morison, R., & Donaldson, K. (2022, February 7). *U.K. approves Chinese nuclear reactor for CGN's Bradwell plant*. Bloomberg.com. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-02-07/u-k-approves-chinese-designed-nuclear-reactor-amid-controversy
- Hiar, C. (2021, August 19). Hydropower withers in drought, boosting fossil-fuel generation. Scientific American. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/hydropower-withers-in-drought-boosting-fossil-fuel-generation/
- Hillman, J., & Sacks, D. (2021, March). Findings / China's Belt and Road: Implications for the United States. Council on Foreign Relations. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.cfr.org/report/chinas-belt-and-road-implications-for-the-unitedstates/findings
- Hogg, J. (2016). 'Abused Technology': Extreme Realism, 1975-1989. In British Nuclear Culture: Official and unofficial narratives in the long 20th century (pp. 133–158). essay, Bloomsbury Academic, an imprint of Bloomsbury Publishing Plc.
- Horowitz, J. (2021, October 7). A global energy crisis is coming. there's no quick fix | CNN business. CNN. Retrieved July 9, 2022, from https://www.cnn.com/2021/10/07/business/global-energy-crisis/index.html
- Horsburgh, N. (2015). China and Global Nuclear Order: From estrangement to active engagement. Oxford University Press.
- Hosseini, S. E. (2022). Transition away from fossil fuels toward renewables: Lessons from Russia-Ukraine crisis. Future Energy, 1(1), 2–5. https://doi.org/10.55670/fpll.fuen.1.1.8

- Hunnicutt, T., & Scheyder, E. (2022, March 8). U.S. ban on Russian energy imports does not include uranium -source. Reuters. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/us-ban-russian-energy-imports-doesnt-include-uranium-source-2022-03-08/
- Hurd, I. (2015). *International organizations: Politics, Law, practice*. Cambridge University Press.
- Hurley, J., Morris, S., & Portelance, G. (2021, February). *Examining the debt implications of the belt and road initiative from a policy perspective*. Center for Global Development . Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://www.cgdev.org/publication/examining-debt-implications-belt-and-road-initiative-a-policy-perspective
- IAEA. (2014, June 2). *The statute of the IAEA*. IAEA. Retrieved July 12, 2022, from https://www.iaea.org/about/statute
- IAEA. (2016, June 8). *History*. IAEA. Retrieved November 18, 2021, from https://www.iaea.org/about/overview/history.
- IAEA. (2021). Country energy overview. IAEA. Retrieved July 7, 2022, from https://cnpp.iaea.org/countryprofiles/Russia/Russia.htm
- IEA. (2021, July 15). Global electricity demand is growing faster than renewables, driving strong increase in generation from fossil fuels news. IEA. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://www.iea.org/news/global-electricity-demand-is-growing-faster-than-renewables-driving-strong-increase-in-generation-from-fossil-fuels
- IEA. (2021c, October 6). International Energy Outlook U.S. Energy Information

 Administration (EIA). International Energy Outlook 2021 U.S. Energy Information

 Administration (EIA). Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/ieo/
- IEA. (2021a). *Renewables Global Energy Review 2021 analysis*. IEA. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://www.iea.org/reports/global-energy-review-2021/renewables
- IMF. (2019). Sri Lanka: Fifth Review under the extended arrangement under the Extended Fund Facility, request for waivers of Nonobservance of performance criteria, extension of the arrangement and rephasing of purchases-press release; staff report and statement by the executive director for Sri Lanka. *IMF Staff Country Reports*, 19(135), 1. https://doi.org/10.5089/9781498315159.002
- IRENA. (2019). A New World . IRENA. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2019/Jan/Global_commission_geopolitics_ne w world 2019.pdf
- Iurshina, D., Karpov, N., Kirkegaard, M., & Semenov, E. (2019, June 20). Why nuclear power plants cost so much-and what can be done about it. Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://thebulletin.org/2019/06/why-nuclear-power-plants-cost-so-much-and-what-can-be-done-about-it/

- Jacoby, M. (2020, March 30). As nuclear waste piles up, scientists seek the best long-term storage solutions. Cen.acs.org. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://cen.acs.org/environment/pollution/nuclear-waste-pilesscientists-seek-best/98/i12
- Joseph, J. (2003). Hegemony: A realist analysis. Taylor and Francis.
- Kamath, P. M. (2013). Indian nuclear doctrine: arming to disarm. In Nuclear disarmament: Regional perspectives on progress (pp. 63–72). essay, Emerald.
- Kamra, A. (2009). The CTBT, an attempt towards nuclear disarmament or safeguarding the nuclear hegemony A Critique. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1518587
- Kempfer, J., Moss, T., Kincer, J., Freed, J., & Lovering, J. (2020, September 22). *Mapping the global market for Advanced Nuclear*. Third Way. Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://www.thirdway.org/memo/mapping-the-global-market-for-advanced-nuclear
- Keohane, R. O. (2005). After hegemony cooperation and discord in the world political economy. Princeton University Press.
- Kerr, P. (n.d.). *Iran, Russia reach nuclear agreement*. Arms control association. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://www.armscontrol.org/act/2005-04/iran-nuclear-briefs/iran-russia-reach-nuclear-agreement
- Kim, L. (2021). *Nuclear belt and road: China's nuclear exports and its implications for world politics*. Wilson Center. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://www.wilsoncenter.org/nuclear-belt-and-road-chinas-nuclear-exports-and-its-implications-world-politics
- Kumar, A. V. (2015). India and the nuclear non-proliferation regime: The Perennial Outlier. Cambridge University Press.
- Lavoy, P. R. (2003, December 1). *Arms control Today*. The Enduring Effects of Atoms for Peace | Arms Control Association. Retrieved July 24, 2022, from https://www.armscontrol.org/act/2003 12/Lavoy
- Leman, M. (2022, June 14). 6 reasons why nuclear energy is not the way to a green and peaceful world. Greenpeace International. Retrieved June 27, 2022, from https://www.greenpeace.org/international/story/52758/reasons-why-nuclear-energy-not-way-green-and-peaceful-world/
- Lecavalier, E. (2015, October 16). *Russian nuclear power: Convenience at what cost?* Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists. Retrieved June 24, 2022, from https://thebulletin.org/2015/10/russian-nuclear-power-convenience-at-what-cost/#post-heading

- Levitz, E. (2022, January 27). *The world can't go Green and nuclear free*. Intelligencer. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://nymag.com/intelligencer/2022/01/nuclear-power-climate-change-renewables.html
- Lieu, A. (2020, September 15). What are engineering, procurement & construction contracts? Legalvision. Retrieved July 26, 2022, from https://legalvision.com.au/what-are-engineering-procurement-and-construction-epc-contracts/
- Lin, B., & Wang, Y. (2020). Does energy poverty really exist in China? from the perspective of residential electricity consumption. *Energy Policy*, 143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2020.111557
- Liu, Z. Z. (2022, June 22). Renewing America's leadership in the Global Civil Nuclear Energy Market. Council on Foreign Relations. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.cfr.org/blog/renewing-americas-leadership-global-civil-nuclear-energy-market
- Lo, B. (2022, March 2). *The world that Vladimir Putin wants to see*. Lowy Institute. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.lowyinstitute.org/publications/world-vladimir-putin-wants-see
- Lobell, S. E., & Nicholson, B. (2019). Structural Modifiers, the Non-Proliferation Treaty Regime, and Fostering a Less Competitive International Environment. In A. Wivel & T. V. Paul (Eds.), International institutions and power politics: Bridging the divide (pp. 137–147). essay, Georgetown University Press.
- Lopez, A. (2015, September 7). Why 100% renewable generation won't bring Energy Security. Asian Development Bank. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://blogs.adb.org/blog/why-100-renewable-generation-won-t-bring-energy-security
- Lovins, A. B. (2021, December 17). Why nuclear power is bad for your wallet and the climate. Bloomberg Law. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://news.bloomberglaw.com/environment-and-energy/why-nuclear-power-is-bad-for-your-wallet-and-the-climate
- Lucet, F. P. (2015, May). *Financing Nuclear Power Plant Projects: A new paradigm?* Ifri. Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://www.ifri.org/en/publications/notes-de-lifri/financing-nuclear-power-plant-projects-new-paradigm
- Maddock, S. J. (2010). The Legacy of Nuclear Apartheid. Nuclear Apartheid, 285–300. https://doi.org/10.5149/9780807895849_maddock.14 *qualitative research* (pp. 19–46). essay, SAGE Publishing, Inc.
- Maradin, D. (2021). Advantages and disadvantages of renewable energy sources utilization. International Journal of Energy Economics and Policy, 11(3), 176–183. https://doi.org/10.32479/ijeep.11027

- Marshall, C., Rossman, G. B., & Blanco, G. L. (2021). Qualitative Research Genres. In *Designing*
- Mazarr, M. J., Blake, J. S., Casey, A., McDonald, T., Pezard, S., & Spirtas, M. (2018, December 19). What does the emerging era of international competition look like? RAND Corporation. Retrieved June 21, 2022, from https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR2726.html
- Mearsheimer, J. J. (1994). The false promise of international institutions. MIT Press.
- Medhurst, M. J. (1997). Atoms for peace and nuclear hegemony: The rhetorical structure of a Cold War campaign. Armed Forces & Society, 23(4), 571–593. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095327x9702300403
- McCullough, L. (2020, June 8). *Tracking china*. William & Mary Alumni Magazine. Retrieved July 21, 2022, from https://magazine.wm.edu/issue/2020-spring/tracking-china.php
- McDonnell, T. (2020, September 30). *China is rapidly becoming the leading nuclear energy superpower*. Quartz. Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://qz.com/1910492/chinas-carbon-pledge-hinges-on-a-buildout-of-nuclear-power/
- Mehta, J. (2020, June 17). *China's growing threat via debt trap diplomacy*. Mint. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.livemint.com/news/india/china-s-growing-threat-via-debt-trap-diplomacy-11592410677912.html
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). Six Common Qualitative Designs. In Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation, 4th edition (pp. 22–43). essay, John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Meserve, R. A. (2009). *The Global Nuclear Safety Regime*. AMERICAN ACADEMY OF ARTS & SCIENCES. Retrieved June 30, 2022, from https://www.amacad.org/publication/global-nuclear-safety-regime
- Meyer, R. (2022, March 21). America's approach to energy security is broken. The Atlantic. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.theatlantic.com/science/archive/2022/03/energy-independence-gas-prices/627117/
- Miller, N. L., & Volpe, T. A. (2022). The rise of the autocratic nuclear marketplace. *Journal of Strategic Studies*, 1–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/01402390.2022.2052725
- Moolakkattu, J. S. (2009). Robert W. Cox and critical theory of international relations. International Studies, 46(4), 439–456. https://doi.org/10.1177/002088171004600404
- Morgenthau, H. J., & Thompson, K. W. (2018). Politics among nations: The struggle for power and peace. Kalyani Publishers.

- Morison, R. (2021, July 31). *Hydrogen goes nuclear as U.K. reactor pivots toward renewables*. Bloomberg.com. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2021-08-01/hydrogen-goes-nuclear-as-u-k-reactor-pivots-toward-renewables?sref=g4EhC0E7#xj4y7vzkg
- Mueller, M. (2021, March 24). Nuclear power is the most reliable energy source and it's not even close. Energy.gov. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://www.energy.gov/ne/articles/nuclear-power-most-reliable-energy-source-and-its-not-even-close
- Muellner, N., Arnold, N., Gufler, K., Kromp, W., Renneberg, W., & Liebert, W. (2021). Nuclear energy the solution to climate change? *Energy Policy*, *155*, 112363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2021.112363
- Nakano, J. (2020, March). *The changing geopolitics of nuclear energy: a look at the United States, Russia, and China*. Center for Strategic and International Studies |. Retrieved July 25, 2022, from https://www.csis.org/
- NEA. (2021, August 5). The most cost-effective decarbonisation investment: Long-term operation of nuclear power plants. Nuclear Energy Agency (NEA). Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://www.oecd-nea.org/jcms/pl_60360/the-most-cost-effective-decarbonisation-investment-long-term-operation-of-nuclear-power-plants
- Nikkei Asia. (2021, October 5). Nuclear power crucial to Japan's net-zero goal: Industry minister. Nikkei Asia. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://asia.nikkei.com/Business/Energy/Nuclear-power-crucial-to-Japan-s-net-zero-goal-industry-minister
- NRC. (2021, May 3). Storage of spent nuclear fuel. nrc.gov. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://www.nrc.gov/waste/spent-fuel-storage.html
- NSC. (1955, March 12). *National security council report, NSC 5507/2*. U.S. Department of State. Retrieved July 24, 2022, from https://history.state.gov/historicaldocuments/frus1955-57v20/d14
- Nuclear Regulatory Commission. (2020, December 2). *Uranium conversion*. Nuclear Regulatory Commission. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://www.nrc.gov/materials/fuel-cycle-fac/ur-conversion.html
- O'Gorman, N., & Hamilton, K. (2014). The Diffusion of an Atomic Icon: Nuclear Hegemony and Cultural Memory Loss. In A. T. Demo & B. Vivian (Eds.), Rhetoric, remembrance, and visual form: Sighting Memory (pp. 189–208). essay, Routledge.
- Ougaard, M. (1988). Dimensions of Hegemony. *Cooperation and Conflict*, *23*(4), 197–214. http://www.jstor.org/stable/45083669

- Ori, S. (2022, March 2). The Ukraine crisis is a wake-up call for Energy Security. Forbes.

 Retrieved May 19, 2022, from

 https://www.forbes.com/sites/ucenergy/2022/03/01/the-ukraine-crisis-is-a-wake-up-call-for-energy-security/?sh=13c0349e6ba1
- Pandey, E. (2018, May 13). *Angola's Chinese oil debt-trap*. Axios. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.axios.com/2018/05/13/angola-africa-china-debt-trap-crude-oil
- Paikin, Z. (2020). Great Power rivalry and the weakening of collective hegemony: Revisiting the relationship between International Society and International Order. *Cambridge Review of International Affairs*, 34(1), 22–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/09557571.2020.1720602
- Palacio, A. (2022, February 25). *Not just Ukraine: Putin wants to remake the world*. Atlantic Council. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/new-atlanticist/not-just-ukraine-putin-wants-to-remake-the-world/
- Parshley, L. (2021, May 5). The controversial future of nuclear power in the U.S. Environment. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/article/nuclear-plants-are-closing-in-the-us-should-we-build-more
- Pazzanese, C. (2022, May 16). *Moves by Russia, China, North Korea Rekindle Nuclear Concerns*. Harvard Gazette. Retrieved July 30, 2022, from https://news.harvard.edu/gazette/story/2022/05/moves-by-russia-china-north-korea-rekindle-nuclear-concerns/
- Paul, T. V. (2012). Regional transformation in international relations. International Relations Theory and Regional Transformation, 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9781139096836.002
- Penn, I. (2022, July 5). *Nuclear power gets new push in U.S., winning converts*. The New York Times. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.nytimes.com/2022/07/05/business/energy-environment/nuclear-energy-politics.html
- Phoumin, H. (2022, May 17). Conflict a wake-up call for Energy Security. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://global.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202205/17/WS6282fc99a310fd2b29e5d1b5.html? utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=conflict-a-wake-up-call-forenergy-security
- Poneman, D., Dominguez, J., & Grossman, D. (2017) *Crisis and opportunity: The future of nuclear energy* [Roundtable discussion]. Aspen Institute Future of Nuclear Energy Roundtable 2017, Washington, D.C., United States. https://www.aspeninstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/2017NuclearEnergy.pdf

- Pombo-Van Zyl, N. (2021, August 24). Study confirms nuclear capacity essential to energy security. ESI. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.esi-africa.com/industry-sectors/generation/study-confirms-nuclear-capacity-essential-to-energy-security/
- Psaropoulos, J. (2022, March 14). Could energy independence from Russia spur a shift to renewables? Russia-Ukraine war News | Al Jazeera. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/3/14/could-energy-independence-from-russia-spur-a-shift-to-renewables
- RANE Network Inc. (2015, October 7). Russia: Exporting influence, one nuclear reactor at a *Time*. Stratfor. Retrieved July 28, 2022, from https://worldview.stratfor.com/article/russia-exporting-influence-one-nuclear-reactor-time
- Ramana, M. V. (2022, April 12). Even China cannot rescue nuclear power from its woes. Center for Asian Studies. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.colorado.edu/cas/2022/04/12/even-china-cannot-rescue-nuclear-power-its-woes#:~:text=What%20about%20China's%20role%20in,a%20nuclear%20plant%20in%20Argentina.
- Reuters. (2019a, June 19). China completes outer dome on overseas hualong one reactor in *Pakistan*. Reuters. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-nuclearpower-pakistan-idUSKCN1TK047
- Reuters. (2019b, June 19). *China could build 30 'belt and road' nuclear reactors by 2030: Official*. Reuters. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-nuclearpower/china-could-build-30-belt-and-road-nuclear-reactors-by-2030-official-idUSKCN1TL0HZ
- Rhodes, R. (2018, July 19). Why nuclear power must be part of the Energy Solution. Yale E360. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://e360.yale.edu/features/why-nuclear-power-must-be-part-of-the-energy-solution-environmentalists-climate
- Ritchie, N. (2019). A hegemonic nuclear order: Understanding the ban treaty and the power politics of nuclear weapons. Contemporary Security Policy, 40(4), 409–434. https://doi.org/10.1080/13523260.2019.1571852
- Rogers, S., & Crow-Miller, B. (2017). The Politics of Water: A review of hydropolitical frameworks and their application in China. *WIREs Water*, *4*(6), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1239
- Ruhnau, O., & Qvist, S. (2022). Storage requirements in a 100% renewable electricity system: Extreme events and inter-annual variability. *Environmental Research Letters*, 17(4), 044018. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac4dc8

- Rupert, J. (2022, May 19). *Our next 'unthinkable' crisis: Nuclear war in Asia?* United States Institute of Peace. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.usip.org/publications/2022/05/our-next-unthinkable-crisis-nuclear-war-asia
- Sabadus, A. (2022, July 8). *Putin's energy weapon: Europe must be ready for Russian gas blackmail*. Atlantic Council. Retrieved July 28, 2022, from https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/ukrainealert/putins-energy-weapon-europe-must-be-ready-for-russian-gas-blackmail/
- Sadiq, M., Shinwari, R., Usman, M., Ozturk, I., & Maghyereh, A. I. (2022). Linking nuclear energy, human development and carbon emission in BRICS region: Do external debt and financial globalization protect the environment? Nuclear Engineering and Technology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.net.2022.03.024
- Saha, S. (2017, April 4). *Russia's nuclear diplomacy*. Foreign Affairs. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/russian-federation/2017-04-02/russias-nuclear-diplomacy
- Saldaña, J. (2011). Genres, elements, and styles of qualitative research. In Fundamentals of Qualitative Research (pp. 3–30). essay, Oxford University Press.
- Sandalow, D. (2019, September 13). *Sipa Center on global energy policy*. SIPA Center on Global Energy Policy. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/research/report/2019-guide-chinese-climate-policy
- Saraç-Lesavre, B., Montaño, D., & Challenge, B. (2021, June 22). Nuclear waste policy. Issues in Science and Technology. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://issues.org/deep-time-nuclear-waste-policy-sarac-lesavre/
- Sarwar, L. (2018). The old silk road and the new silk road: an analysis of the changed discourse. *The Journal of Central Asian Studies*, *24*, 5–12.
- Saull, R. (2017). Hegemony and the global political economy. Oxford Research Encyclopedia of International Studies. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190846626.013.208
- Schepers, N. (2019, February). Russia's nuclear energy exports: Status, prospects and implications. SIPRI. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://www.sipri.org/sites/default/files/2019-02/eunpdc_no_61_final.pdf
- Schmad, R. (2021, June 7). *Nuclear energy and American hegemony*. Washington Examiner. Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/opinion/nuclear-energy-and-american-hegemony

- Schneider, M., Froggatt, A., Hazemann, J., Katsuta, T., Stirling, A., Wealer, B., Johnstone, P., Ramana, M. V., von Hirschhausen, C., & Stienne, A. (2018, September 6). *The World Nuclear Industry Status Report 2018 (HTML)*. World Nuclear Industry Status Report. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://www.worldnuclearreport.org/The-World-Nuclear-Industry-Status-Report-2018-HTML.html
- Schuman, M. (2021, December 9). *China wants to rule the world by controlling the rules*. The Atlantic. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2021/12/china-wants-rule-world-controlling-rules/620890/
- Schurmann, F. (1974). The Logic of World Power: An Inquiry into the origins, currents, and contradictions of world politics. Pantheon Books.
- Schwartz, J. A. (2021). Introduction "It was the sound that terrified us". In Radiation sounds marshallese music and nuclear silences (pp. 1–40). essay, Duke University Press.
- Schwarzenberger, G. (1964). Power politics: A Study of International Society. Praeger.
- Sengupta, S., & Ponangi, R. (2022, May 28). *Russia's outsized role in India's nuclear power program*. The Diplomat. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://thediplomat.com/2022/05/russias-outsized-role-in-indias-nuclear-power-program/
- Shambaugh, D. (2018). U.S.-China rivalry in Southeast Asia: Power shift or competitive coexistence? *International Security*, *42*(4), 85–127. https://doi.org/10.1162/isec_a_00314
- Siegel, E. (2020, October 21). *The World Needs Nuclear Power, and we shouldn't be afraid of it.* Forbes. Retrieved June 30, 2022, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/startswithabang/2020/10/21/the-world-needs-nuclear-power-and-we-shouldnt-be-afraid-of-it/?sh=647e21256576
- Sinaee, M. (2022, January 19). *Iran forms New Power 'triangle' with Russia, China, hardliners say*. Iran International. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.iranintl.com/en/202201198952
- Singh, S. (2022, June 14). *India's China policy is confused*. Foreign Policy. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://foreignpolicy.com/2022/06/14/india-china-policy-ladakh-border-clash-quad-modi/
- Smith-Boyle, V., Wallin, M., & Yllemo, J. O. (2022, July 18). *Russian nuclear industry dominance and American vulnerability*. American Security Project. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://www.americansecurityproject.org/russian-nuclear-industry-dominance-and-american-vulnerability/

- Stulberg, A. N., & Darsey, J. (2021). Moving beyond self-restraint: bilateral commercial nuclear supply and US-Russian tacit understanding on nuclear security and international safeguards. In S. Bidgood & W. C. Potter (Eds.), End of an era: the United States, Russia, and nuclear nonproliferation (pp. 87–115). essay, The President and Trustees of Middlebury College.
- Swanek, T. (2018, November 6). Cost of nuclear generation reaches nearly 10-year low. Nuclear Energy Institute. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://www.nei.org/news/2018/cost-of-nuclear-generation-reaches-10-year-low
- Tabeta, S. (2020, November 28). *China's first homegrown reactor ready to take on western players*. Nikkei Asia. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://asia.nikkei.com/Business/Energy/China-s-first-homegrown-reactor-ready-to-take-on-Western-players
- Taebi, B., & Mayer, M. (2015, June 5). *The Russian Nuclear Energy Proposal: An offer you can't refuse*. Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs. Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://www.belfercenter.org/publication/russian-nuclear-energy-proposal-offer-you-cant-refuse
- Tanchum, M. (2015, July 31). Russia races to outflank China in Middle East Nuclear Technology market. The Diplomat. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://thediplomat.com/2015/07/russia-races-to-outflank-china-in-middle-east-nuclear-technology-market/
- Teslova, E. (2022, June 23). *Putin stresses BRICS' growing weight, influence in Global Arena*. Anadolu Agency. Retrieved July 30, 2022, from https://www.aa.com.tr/en/world/putin-stresses-brics-growing-weight-influence-in-global-arena/2621076
- Tharoor, I. (2022, April 25). Analysis | Russia's war in Ukraine is a 'watershed moment' for climate crisis. The Washington Post. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2022/04/25/russia-climate-change-energy-spain/
- Thomas, S. (2018). Russia's nuclear export programme. Energy Policy, 121, 236–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2018.06.036
- Thomson, J. E. (1995). State Sovereignty in International Relations: Bridging the gap between theory and empirical research. International Studies Quarterly, 39(2), 213. https://doi.org/10.2307/2600847
- Tiwari, S. (2022, March 11). *In India's backyard China's 4th Indigenous 'hualong one'* nuclear reactor gets going in Pakistan's Karachi. Latest Asian, Middle-East, EurAsian, Indian News. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://eurasiantimes.com/hualong-one-nuclear-reactor-goes-online-in-pakistan-china/

- Tomotsugu, S. (2016). After the Hegemony of the "Atoms for Peace" Program: Multilateral Nonproliferation Policy under the Nixon and Ford Administrations. Japanese Journal of American Studies, (27)
- Turcsanyi, R., & Kachlikova, E. (2020). The BRI and China's Soft Power in Europe: Why Chinese Narratives (Initially) Won. Journal of Current Chinese Affairs, 49(1), 58–81. https://doi.org/10.1177/1868102620963134
- Umarov, T. (2021, March 8). Can Russia and China edge the United States out of Kazakhstan? Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://carnegiemoscow.org/commentary/85078
- Ulmer-Scholle, D. S. (2022, May 4). The basics of nuclear energy why nuclear power? New Mexico Bureau of Geology & Mineral Resources. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://geoinfo.nmt.edu/resources/uranium/why.html
- Union of Concerned Scientists. (2013, October 1). A brief history of nuclear accidents worldwide. Union of Concerned Scientists. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://www.ucsusa.org/resources/brief-history-nuclear-accidents-worldwide
- U.S. Energy Information Administration. (2017, September 14). EIA projects 28% increase in world energy use by 2040. Homepage U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=32912
- U.S. Energy Information Administration. (2021, October 7). *EIA projects nearly 50% increase in world energy use by 2050, led by growth in renewables*. U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). Retrieved July 29, 2022, from https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=49876
- U.S. Government Publishing Office. (2022, January 18). *Atomic Energy Act of 1954*. U.S. Government Information. Retrieved July 24, 2022, from https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/COMPS-1630/pdf/COMPS-1630.pdf
- U.S. Senate. (2019, April 30). U.S. Senate Committee on Energy and Natural Resources. Retrieved June 30, 2022, from https://www.energy.senate.gov/
- U.S. Senate . (2022, April 8). *Risch, Manchin introduce International Nuclear Energy Act*.

 United States Senate Committee on Foreign Relations. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.foreign.senate.gov/press/ranking/release/risch-manchin-introduce-international-nuclear-energy-act
- Volker, K. (2022, January 10). *Putin is determined to rebuild Russian Empire*. CEPA. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://cepa.org/putin-is-determined-to-rebuild-the-russian-empire/
- Walker, W. (2012). A perpetual menace: Nuclear weapons and international order. Routledge.

- Wallace, M., Kotek, J., Williams, S., Nadeau, P., Hundertmark, T., & Banks, G. D. (2013, June). *Center for Strategic & International Studies*. Center for Strategic and International Studies |. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://www.csis.org/
- Waltz, K. N. (2010). Theory of international politics. Waveland.
- Wang, E.-Z., & Lee, C.-C. (2022). The impact of clean energy consumption on economic growth in China: Is environmental regulation a curse or a blessing? International Review of Economics & Finance, 77, 39–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iref.2021.09.008
- Wesolowsky, T. (2022, June 15). *The Rosatom Exemption: How Russia's state-run nuclear giant has escaped sanctions*. RadioFreeEurope/RadioLiberty. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://www.rferl.org/a/rosatom-russia-nuclear-giant-escapes-sanctions/31899192.html
- World Nuclear Association. (2009). *Financing nuclear energy*. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved July 19, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/economic-aspects/financing-nuclear-energy.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (n.d.). *How is uranium made into nuclear fuel?* World Nuclear Association. Retrieved June 30, 2022, from https://www.world-nuclear.org/nuclear-essentials/how-is-uranium-made-into-nuclear-fuel.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2016, February 11). Rosatom explains benefits of state backing to plant projects. Rosatom explains benefits of state backing to plant projects World Nuclear News. Retrieved July 27, 2022, from https://world-nuclear-news.org/C-Rosatom-explains-benefits-of-state-backing-to-plant-projects-11021601.html
- World Nuclear Association. (2017, February). *Military Warheads as a Source of Nuclear Fuel*. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved June 30, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/nuclear-fuel-cycle/uranium-resources/military-warheads-as-a-source-of-nuclear-fuel.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2020, September). *Uranium enrichment*. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/nuclear-fuel-cycle/conversion-enrichment-and-fabrication/uranium-enrichment.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2021a, August). *China's nuclear fuel cycle*. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/country-profiles/countries-a-f/china-nuclear-fuel-cycle.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2021b, September). Nuclear Power Economics | Nuclear Energy Costs. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/economic-aspects/economics-of-nuclear-power.aspx

- World Nuclear Association. (2021c, August). Renewable Energy and Electricity. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved May 19, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/energy-and-the-environment/renewable-energy-and-electricity.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2021d, November). *US Uranium Mining and Exploration*. US Uranium Mining and Exploration World Nuclear Association. Retrieved July 7, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/country-profiles/countries-t-z/us-uranium-mining.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2021e, September). *Nuclear Power Economics | Nuclear Energy Costs*. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/economic-aspects/economics-of-nuclear-power.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2021, April). *Advanced Nuclear Power Reactors*. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/nuclear-fuel-cycle/nuclear-power-reactors/advanced-nuclear-power-reactors.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2022a, July). *China Nuclear Power | Chinese Nuclear Energy -* . World Nuclear Association. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.world-nuclear.org/information-library/country-profiles/countries-a-f/china-nuclear-power.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2022b, June). *Uranium in Kazakhstan*. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved July 18, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/country-profiles/countries-g-n/kazakhstan.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2022c, January). *Uranium in Namibia*. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/country-profiles/countries-g-n/namibia.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2022d, June). *World Uranium Mining Production*. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved June 30, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/nuclear-fuel-cycle/mining-of-uranium/world-uranium-mining-production.aspx
- World Nuclear Association. (2022e, March). Safety of Nuclear Power Reactors. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved July 8, 2022, from <a href="https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/safety-and-security/safety-of-plants/safety-of-nuclear-power-nuclear-power-reactors.aspx#:~:text=Civil%20nuclear%20power%20has%20greatly,at%20least%20for%20older%20plants.
- World Nuclear Association. (2022f, May). *Emerging Nuclear Energy Countries*. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/country-profiles/others/emerging-nuclear-energy-countries.aspx

- World Nuclear Association. (2022g, May). *Uranium in Canada*. World Nuclear Association. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/country-profiles/countries-a-f/canada-uranium.aspx
- Xie, E. (2022, July 30). *China urged to sell its nuclear tech to the developed world*. South China Morning Post. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.scmp.com/news/china/science/article/3187104/china-has-nuclear-power-lead-and-should-sell-developed-world
- Yellen, D. (2020, February 26). The Trade War we want China to win: China's nuclear exports can challenge Russian dominance. Atlantic Council. Retrieved August 1, 2022, from https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/energysource/the-trade-war-we-want-chinato-win-chinas-nuclear-exports-can-challenge-russian-dominance/
- Yi, Z. (2018, March 8). Several nuclear power units are scheduled to start construction within the year, and nuclear power has ushered in a peak in construction. Yicai. Retrieved July 31, 2022, from https://www.yicai.com/news/5404830.html
- Yilmaz, S. (2015). China's Foreign Policy and Critical Theory of International Relations. *Journal of Chinese Political Science*, 21, 75–88.
- Zakaria, F. (2021, October 22). Opinion | we're headed for a global energy crisis. what we need is a transition strategy. The Washington Post. Retrieved July 9, 2022, from https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2021/10/21/were-headed-global-energy-crisis-what-we-need-is-transition-strategy/
- Zhang, Z. (2018). The belt and road initiative: China's new geopolitical strategy? *China Quarterly of International Strategic Studies*, 04(03), 327–343. https://doi.org/10.1142/s2377740018500240